

East Tennessee State University Digital Commons @ East Tennessee State University

Electronic Theses and Dissertations

Student Works

12-2014

Identification, Cloning, and Expression of Tobacco Responsive to Dehydration like Protein (RD22), SBIP-355 and Its Role in SABP2 Mediated SA Pathway in Plant Defense

Hanadi Abdulaali Almazroue East Tennessee State University

Follow this and additional works at: https://dc.etsu.edu/etd Part of the <u>Biology Commons</u>

Recommended Citation

Almazroue, Hanadi Abdulaali, "Identification, Cloning, and Expression of Tobacco Responsive to Dehydration like Protein (RD22), SBIP-355 and Its Role in SABP2 Mediated SA Pathway in Plant Defense" (2014). *Electronic Theses and Dissertations*. Paper 2456. https://dc.etsu.edu/etd/2456

This Thesis - Open Access is brought to you for free and open access by the Student Works at Digital Commons @ East Tennessee State University. It has been accepted for inclusion in Electronic Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Digital Commons @ East Tennessee State University. For more information, please contact digilib@etsu.edu.

Identification, Cloning, and Expression of Tobacco Responsive to Dehydration like Protein (RD22), SBIP-355 and Its Role in SABP2 Mediated SA Pathway in Plant Defense

A thesis

presented to

the faculty of the Department of Biological Sciences

East Tennessee State University

In partial fulfillment

of the requirement for the degree

Master of Science in Biology

by

Hanadi Abdulaali Almazroue

December 2014

Dr. Dhirendra Kumar (Chair)

Dr. Bert C. Lampson

Dr. Shivakumar Devaiah

Keywords: Plant defense, Abiotic stress, ABA, SA, SABP2, SBIP-355, RD22, BURP-domain

ABSTRACT

Identification, Cloning, and Expression of Tobacco Responsive to Dehydration like Protein (RD22), SBIP-355 and Its Role in SABP2 Mediated SA Pathway in Plant Defense

by

Hanadi Almazroue

Abscisic acid (ABA) induces *RD22*, responsive to dehydration stress gene. Salicylic acid (SA) has been the focus of research due to its role against pathogens and abiotic stress. Interaction between ABA and SA signaling pathways is still poorly understood. SA-Binding Protein 2 (SABP2) converts methyl salicylate to SA. An attempt was made to identify proteins that interact with SABP2 using a yeast 2-hybrid screening. Several interactors were identified. One of them, SA-Binding Protein 2 Interacting Protein-355 (SBIP-355), showed high homology to *RD22*. Bioinformatic approaches showed that SBIP-355 contains a BURP domain. Phylogenetic analysis reveals that SBIP-355 clustered into the clade of RD22-like proteins. Thus, SBIP-355 gene might be a stress-inducible gene and encodes a dehydration-responsive protein, which is important for the stress tolerance of tobacco. The complementary DNA (cDNA) of tobacco SBIP-355 was cloned into pDEST-17 vector and then expressed in *E. coli* to detect the expression of SBIP-355 protein.

DEDICATION

I dedicate this thesis to my exceptional parents, who never stop giving of themselves in countless ways. Your constant love, prayers, trust, and guidance have given me the strength and patience to surpass all the obstacles.

I dedicate this thesis to my homeland, Saudi Arabia, the warmest womb.

I dedicate this thesis to my aunt and the closest friend during this journey, Ghada. You led me through the valley of darkness with light of hope and support.

I dedicate this thesis to the memory of Dr. Ghazi Algosaibi, who always inspires me to believe that all dreams are possible with determination.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First and foremost, I am especially grateful to my mentor Dr. Dhirendra Kumar who allowed me to advance by this opportunity of working under his supervision, for always encouraging me to expand my horizons, for his unending patience, and for letting me have this valuable experience towards a bright future for my personal and professional growth.

My sincere gratitude goes to my honorable members of my committee Dr. Bert Lampson and Dr. Shivakumar Devaiah who were guardians for me in every aspect.

Research in Dr. Kumar's Lab is supported by grant from National Science Foundation (MCB 1022077) and grant from ETSU (RDC 14-021M).

Taking this long journey from my home country to earn a master's degree wouldn't ever be possible without the support of King Abdullah Scholarships Program administrated by Ministry of Higher Education - Saudi Arabia. I would very much like to thank all the people working at Royal Embassy of Saudi Arabia in Washington, DC and The Saudi Arabian Cultural Mission (SACM) for their open doors. I have always felt welcome to ask for any possible help and support that I needed. In this way I would like to express special regards to my SACM academic advisor, Ms. Maha Alshakh.

I'm always in debt to my parents for their constant believing and trusting my inner determination and for their honest prayers and blessings. I can't thank my lab members enough for their friendship and the moments we shared that created a nice working environment. I'm glad for this unique chance that let me meet friends from different backgrounds. I wish them all the best in their future personally and professionally.

4

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT					
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS					
LIST OF FIGURES					
Chapter					
1. INTRODUCTION11					
Abscisic Acid12					
ABA Signaling Pathways13					
Interaction Between Plant Hormones Signaling Pathways14					
Salicylic Acid and Defense Signaling15					
Biosynthesis of SA16					
Role of SA in LAR and SAR17					
SA-Binding Proteins (SABPs)18					
Salicylic Acid Binding Protein2 (SABP2)					
SABP2-Interacting Proteins (SBIPs)					
Responsive to Dehydration-22 (RD22)-like Protein					
MYB Transcription Factor					
BURP Domain-Containing Protein Family23					
Hypotheses25					
2. MATERIALS AND METHODS					

Materials
Plant Materials26
Chemicals and Reagents26
Buffers27
Labware27
Vectors
Kits
Bactrial Strains
Apparatus
Oligonucleotides
Methods
Identification, Cloning, and Expression of SBIP-355
Bioinformatics Analysis
Total RNA Extraction from Tobacco Leaves Using TRIzol® Reagent
cDNA Synthesis
Gateway Recombination Cloning Technology
Amplification of SBIP-355 Gene Using PCR
Analysis of SBIP-355 Amplification by Agarose Gel Electrophoresis
Purification of PCR Product Using PCR Purification Kit
Cloning SBIP-355 into an Entry Vector (pDONR221) Using BP Reaction35
Preparation of Chemically Competent <i>E. coli</i> DH5α Cells Using Calcium Chloride36

Tra	cansformation of Chemically Competent <i>E. coli</i> DH5α Cells	37
Co	onfirmation of SBIP-355 Insertion into pDONR221 by Colony PCR	37
Pu	urification of Plasmid DNA (pDONR221-SBIP-355) Using Plasmid Miniprep Kit3	38
See	equencing of Purified Plasmid DNA (pDONR221-SBIP-355)	38
Co pD	onstruction of Expression Vector by Subcloning of pDONR221-SBIP-355 into DEST17	39
Pu	urification of pDEST17-SBIP-355	39
Tra Ma	cansformation of pDEST17-SBIP-355 into Chemically Competent E. coli BL21 (DE3)) 40
Te	est for Small Scale Recombinant Protein Expression pDEST17-SBIP-355 in E. coli	40
So	odium Dodecyl Sulfate Polyacrylamide Gel Electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE)	41
We	estern Blot Analysis	41
3. RESUL	LTS	44
Bio	oinformatics Analysis of SBIP-355	14
То	otal RNA Isolation from XNN Tobacco Using TRIzol Method and cDNA Synthesis	50
Clo	loning of SBIP-355 by Gateway Cloning Technology and Expression in <i>E.coli</i>	51
An	mplification of SBIP-355 Using PCR	51
Pu	urification of PCR Amplified SBIP-355 Using PCR Purification Kit	52
Cle	loning of SBIP-355 into pDONR221 Using BP Recombination Reaction	52
Pu	urification of Plasmid DNA (pDONR221-SBIP-355) Using Plasmid Miniprep Kit5	54
DN	NA Sequencing Results	54

Subcloning of Recombinant pDONR221-SBIP-355 into pDEST17 Expression Vector			
Using LR Recombination Reaction63			
Small Scale Expression of Recombinant SBIP-355 Protein in <i>E.coli</i>			
4. DISCUSSION			
Future Directions			
REFERENCES			
APPENDICES			
Appendix A – Abbreviations			
Appendix B – Buffers and Reagents			
VITA			

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure		Page
1.	A Simplified Sketch of the Main Steps of ABA-dependent Signaling Pathway of Dehydration Responsive Gene Expression Stress	14
2.	A Simplified Sketch of Pathways of SA biosynthesis in Plants	17
3.	Yeast 2-Hybrid System	.21
4.	A Model for the Induction of the <i>rd22</i> Gene under Water Deficit Stress	.22
5.	An Overview of Cloning of SBIP-355 into pDEST17 Using Gateway System	.33
6.	ORF of SBIP-355 in SGN Database	45
7.	Partial Sequence of SBIP-355 Obtained from Yeast 2-Hybrid Screening	.45
8.	Amino Acid Sequence of SBIP-355 Translated by ExPASy Tool	.46
9.	BLAST Search Result of SBIP-355 Protein	.46
10.	Multiple Amino Acid Sequence Alignments of SGN-U446947 with Similar Proteins Containing BURP domains	.47
11.	Phylogenetic Tree of Multiple Proteins of BURP Domain-Containing Protein Family	/ 48
12.	Result of Signal Peptide Detection of SBIP-355	49
13.	Quantitation of RNA Isolated from Tobacco XNN Leaves Using NanoDrop Spectrophotometer	50
14.	1.2 % Agarose Gel Stained with EtBr for the Amplification of $EF1\alpha$	51
15.	1.2 % Agarose Gel Stained with EtBr for the Amplification of SBIP-355	51
16.	1.2 % Agarose Gel Stained with EtBr for the Quality of Purified SBIP-355	52
17.	0.8% Agarose Gel Stained with EtBr for the Confirmation of the Insertion of SBIP-3 into pDONR221 by Colony PCR	55 53

18.	0.8% Agarose Gel Stained with EtBr for the Confirmation of the Quality of the Isolated pDONR221-SBIP-355 Using Plasmid Miniprep Kit
19.	Nucleotide Sequence Alignment of the Sequenced Clones (1,4,9,16 and 29) (Recombinant pDONR221-SBIP-355) with SBIP-355 Nucleotide Sequence
20.	Amino Acid Sequence Alignment of the Sequenced Clones (1,4,9,16 and 29) (Recombinant pDONR221-SBIP-355) with SBIP-355 Amino Acid Sequence
21.	Nucleotide Sequence Alignment of Clone #1 the Highest Homologue with SBIP-355 Nucleotide Sequence
22.	Amino Acid Sequence Alignment of Clone #1 the Highest Homologue with SBIP-355 Amino Acid Sequence
23.	0.8% Agarose Gel Stained with EtBr for the Confirmation of the Insertion of SBIP-355 into pDEST17
24.	0.8% Agarose gel Stained with EtBr for the Confirmation of the Quality of the Isolated pDEST17-SBIP-355 Using Plasmid Miniprep Kit
25.	Expression of SBIP-35565

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

Crop plants regularly encounter harsh environmental abiotic stresses such as higher concentration of salt (salinity), water shortage (drought or dehydration), high wind, and extremes of temperatures such as cold or heat and humidity. These conditions have significant impact on growth, productivity, distribution, and development of plants. In fact, these stresses threaten the agricultural industry globally and cause losses worth millions of dollars annually due to damage of crops. Among various abiotic stresses, salinity and drought are the most intense environmental stresses. The latest report of the food and agriculture organization of the United Nations (FAO) demonstrates that crop production failure in 2013 ranges between 7 percent to 28 percent of the total production as a result of water deficit stresses, and it indicates that 36 countries around the world are in need of external assistance for food because of crop failures (FAO 2013). These costly impacts come in different forms such as economic, environmental, and social. Economically, it causes a decline in crop yield and consequent decline in agriculture-dependent industries such as textile, drugs, dairy and meat production. Subsequently, it leads to reduction in income for farmers and for a prolonged period, increase rate of unemployment in agriculture field and agriculture-dependent industries, and thus an increase in the market price of products. Environmentally, this reduction in plant growth results in a negative impact on animals in many different ways including shrinking their food supply, destruction of their habitat, and migration or decline in wildlife populations. Finally, the decline of agriculture can bring serious social consequences in people's health and safety such as anxiety or depression about economic losses, reduced quality of life, and increased poverty and social instability.

11

The main consequence of drought and salt stress is decreased growth and development of plants caused by a significant inhibition of photosynthesis, the process in which plants combine water, carbon dioxide, and light to make carbohydrates for energy. Reductions in photosynthetic components such as water impact plant growth negatively. Therefore, plants react by rapid closure of stomata to avoid further water loss via transpiration (Cornic 1994). Transpiration rate is regulated by Abscisic acid (ABA), a plant hormone known to reduce transpiration by inducing stomatal closure and greatly increase stomatal sensitivity to elevated CO2 concentrations (Zhang et al. 1987). This enhances the protection of plants from damages induced by drought, salinity, and pathogenic attack.

Abscisic Acid

ABA is a plant stress phytohormone responsible for regulating many physiological events and supporting plants survival under many abiotic stress responses. Significant levels of ABA accumulate in response to drought and salt stresses and degrade after the release of stresses (Zhang et al. 2006). Studies have shown that plant adaption to abiotic stress increases by exogenous application of ABA (Bartels et al. 1990). Investigating the role of ABA in stress tolerance was carried out using mutants (Ingram and Bartels 1996). These mutants are *aba* (ABA deficient) mutations that affect synthesis of ABA, resulting in lower ABA levels; and *abi* (ABAinsensitive) mutations which impair ABA sensitivity (Rock and Zeevaart 1991). Studies with *aba* and *abi* helped to demonstrate that ABA plays a critical role in plant adaptation to stresses. For example, it was found that ABA induces closure of stomata by using an ABA-deficient tomato mutant, *flacca*. It was found to be unable to close stomata during drought stress and had shown much less ABA content than wild-type tomatoes (Neill et al. 1986). On the other hand, The ABA's role in regulating plant adaption against stress is not well understood. In general, ABA is stimulated by stress to act via differential signal pathways, and then it expresses a number of genes that may regulate stress tolerance (Swamy and Smith 1999).

ABA Signaling Pathways

Genetic analysis of the ABA-deficient *Arabidopsis* mutants *los5/aba3* and *los6/aba1* showed that ABA plays critical role in the expression of stress-inducible genes. The expression of stress-responsive genes such as *RD29A*, *RD22*, *COR15A*, and *COR47* was severely reduced or completely blocked in the *los5* mutant (Xiong et al. 2001), while in *los6* the expression of *RD29A*, *RD19*, *COR15A*, *COR47*, *KIN1*, and *ADH* was lower than in wild-type plants (Xiong et al. 2002). Therefore, although ABA-independent signaling pathways may exist, an ABA-dependent signaling pathway plays an essential role in stress-responsive gene expression during osmotic stress (Fig.1) (Xiong et al. 2001).

Microarray analysis using *Arabidopsis thaliana* as a model plant showed that many drought-inducible genes were expressed and their mRNA levels are subsequently reduced by releasing the water deficit stress conditions. These genes include *RD* (responsive to dehydration), *ERD* (early responsive to dehydration) and *COR* (cold-regulated), *LTI* (low-temperature induced) and *KIN* (cold-inducible) (Shinozaki and Yamaguchi-Shinozaki 2000). It was suggested that this variety of stress-inducible genes gives a vision of how the responses of plants to dehydration and cold are complex and complicated. In addition, it was found that some of the stress-inducible genes are overexpressed in transgenic plants that exhibit enhanced stress tolerance, suggesting that their gene products may function in protecting cells from stress (Xiong et al. 2001).

13



Gene produced are involved in Drought response and tolereance

Figure 1: A Simplified Sketch of the Main Steps of ABA-Dependent Signaling Pathway of Dehydration Responsive Gene Expression. (NAC: (NAM-ATAF1,2-CUC2) transcription factor, MYC/MYB: MYC and MYB transcriptions factor families, *bZIP*: basic -leucine zipper transcription factors, *ABRE*; ABA-responsive elements ; and *RD26,RD22,RD29B,RD20A*: responsive to dehydration genes. (Figure adapted from Yamaguchi-Shinozaki and Shinozaki 2006).

Interaction Between Plant Hormones Signaling Pathways

The perception of drought stress triggers synthesis of ABA, which is considered the major regulatory hormone that activates transduction cascades during water deficit stress and leads to the activation of a large suite of stress-responsive genes and results in stomatal closure (Wilkinson and Davies 2010). It was found that these responses directly affect the biosynthesis or action of other hormones including salicylic acid (SA), ethylene (ET), jasmonic acid (JA), and cytokinins. These hormones can have either synergistic or antagonistic interactions with ABA,

leading to positive and negative functional results (Peleg and Blumwald 2011). Recent studies suggest that ABA has an important role in plant–pathogen defense signaling. ABA deficiency results in weaken plant defenses and causes enhanced pathogen susceptibility (Asselbergh et al. 2008; Cao et al. 2011). Also, ABA promotes stomata closure to inhibit the entry of pathogen. Along the same line, abiotic stress generally makes plants more sensitive to subsequent pathogen attack (Moeder and Yoshioka 2009). However, the mechanisms of involvement of ABA in plant–pathogen interactions are still ambiguous and need to be more investigated (Yasuda et al. 2008). Resistance response to many pathogens involves SA signaling pathway. The role of SA in the plant–pathogen resistance has been extensively investigated and widely documented. Recent valuable reports have found that SA also plays an important role in the response to abiotic stresses including drought and salt stress, and these reports suggested that SA has great agronomic potential to improve the stress tolerance of agriculturally important crops (Rivas-San Vicente and Plasencia 2011; Miura and Tada. 2014).

Salicylic Acid and Defense Signaling

SA had taken its name after its discovery as a major component in the extracts from willow (*Salix*) tree bark that had been used as a natural anti-inflammatory drug (*Aspirin*). SA has become the focus of plant research after exploring how it serves as a critical signal for activating disease resistance after pathogen attack in various plant species. This was first discovered in 1979, when tobacco plants were sprayed with aspirin that produced enhanced resistance to subsequent infection by tobacco mosaic virus (TMV) (White 1979). In addition, SA also plays an important role in other important functions in plants such as growth and development, stomatal

15

closure, seed germination, cell growth, respiration, and thermogenesis (Vlot et al. 2009; Rivas-San Vicente and Plasencia 2011).

Biosynthesis of SA

Biosynthesis of SA in plants has been under investigation for almost half a century (Chen et al. 2009). SA derivation occurs through the shikimate pathway through 2 different routes: the isochorismate synthase (ICS) catalyzed pathway and the phenylalanine ammonia-lyase (PAL) catalyzed pathway (Fig.2). Both of these pathways originate from chorismate, the end product of the shikimate pathway (Chen et al. 2009). In the ICS1 catalyzed pathway, chorismate is converted to isochorismate via isochorismate synthase (ICS), and then isochorismate is likely converted to SA via isochorismate pyruvate lyase (IPL). However, in the PAL catalyzed pathway, phenylalanine is converted to cinnamic acid via phenylalanine ammonia lyase (PAL), cinnamic acid is then converted to either coumaric acid to SA or benzoic acid (benzoate intermediates) to SA via benzoic acid-2- hydroxylase (BA2H) (Chen et al. 2009). To date the enzymes which required for the conversion of SA from cinnamate in the PAL pathway in plants have not been known (Chen et al. 2009).

Local and systemic acquired resistance (LAR and SAR) in plants require SA biosynthesis (Wildermuth et al. 2001). Mobility of SA is required for SAR to reach other parts of the plant for further signal transduction and to establish resistance. To achieve that, SA is first converted into methyl salicylate (MeSA) by SA-methyl transferase (SAMT) (Chen et al. 2009). MeSA is a volatile ester and critical phloem-mobile SAR signal that is dramatically increased upon pathogen infection (Kumar and Klessig 2003; Forouhar et al. 2005). Once MeSA has reached its target tissue, it is converted back to SA by the esterase activity of SA binding protein 2 (SABP2) (Forouhar et al. 2005).



Figure 2: A Simplified Sketch of Pathways of SA biosynthesis in Plants. SA is synthesized and converted to mobile methyl salicylate (MeSA) by salicylic acid methyltransferase (SAMT) and then, MeSA is converted back to SA by SABP2. (Figure adapted from Chen et al. 2009).

Role of SA in LAR and SAR

Plants infected by a pathogen (this refers not only to microbial pathogens but any type of invasion such as nematodes, insects, or herbivores, as well as treatment with certain chemicals, or other types of stress) respond by expressing a set of defense-related genes, such as the genes encoding pathogenesis-related proteins (PR proteins) (Uknes et al. 1992; Sticher et al. 1997). It was found that these genes are expressed in both local infected and systemic noninfected leaves (Uknes et al. 1992). Plants containing a specific R gene are able to recognize a pathogen that

carries a corresponding avirulence (avr) gene that leads to localized cell death called the hypersensitive (HR) response. HR limits the spread of the pathogen (Glazebrook 1999; Rairdan and Delaney 2002). In the SAR pathway infection by a pathogen causes the host cell to trigger a signal to be spread throughout the plant; this signal triggers the activation of defense genes in uninfected tissues and results in showing enhanced resistance to future pathogen attack (Tiryaki and Tunaz 2004).

SA plays an indispensable role in activating SAR (Gaffney et al. 1993; Delaney et al. 1994). These findings come from experiments using plants transformed with bacterial *nahG* gene, which encodes the enzyme salicylate hydroxylase that converts SA to an inactive catechol (Gaffney et al. 1993; Tiryaki and Tunaz 2004). These experiments observed that plants expressing salicylate hydroxylase were unable to accumulate SA after pathogen attack and lacked the ability to activate *PR* genes, which are associated with the onset of SAR (Gaffney et al. 1993). Other findings support the notion that SA plays a role in the SAR pathway. It was demonstrated that the treatment of plants with SA leads to induction of SAR (White 1979; Metraux et al. 1991; Gaffney et al. 1993; Gorlach et al. 1996); whereas, the absence of SA in the plants made them unable to establish SAR (Gaffney et al. 1993; Delaney et al. 1994).

Hara et al. (2011) reported drought induces expression of *PR1* and *PR2*, which are known SA-inducible genes. This findings demonstrates and supports that SA may have a role in drought tolerance and may lead to the induction of the protective mechanism.

SA-Binding Proteins (SABPs)

With a view to help elucidating SA role in disease resistance and clarify SA defense response mechanisms in plants, extensive studies have been carried out to investigate the

proteins that bind to SA. Several putative effector proteins have been identified in *Nicotiana* tabacum. The first, termed SA-binding protein (SABP), has a native molecular mass of 240 kDa. Further analysis of SABP revealed that it is catalase and its properties suggest that it may play a role in transmitting the SA signal during plant defense responses (Chen et al. 1993). SA levels in cells increase upon pathogen infection; therefore, they inhibit the H_2O_2 degrading activity of SABP because of binding to SA. Consequently, H_2O_2 accumulates in the plant cells and activates the hypersensitive response and, thus, leads to apoptotic cell death to limit pathogen growth (Conrath et al. 1995; Chen et al. 2003). The second salicylic acid-binding protein identified from tobacco was SABP2, which is a 29 kDa protein that displays high affinity for SA and catalyzes the conversion of inactive methyl salicylate (MeSA) into SA to induce SAR (Kumar and Klessig 2003; Forouhar et al. 2005). It also has been found that SABP2 plays an important role in LR and SAR following TMV infection (Kumar and Klessig 2003). Third SA-binding protein identified from tobacco was SABP3, which is chloroplast carbonic anhydrase (CA) (Wang et al. 2009). It was found that SABP3 has an antioxidant activity and is required for the induction of resistance in the plant against pathogen infection (Slaymaker et al. 2002).

Salicylic Acid Binding Protein2 (SABP2)

SABP2 is a 29-kDa tobacco soluble protein that belongs to α/β fold hydrolase super family. It is present in low abundance (10 fmol/mg) and binds SA with high affinity Kd = 90 nM). This binding is reversible and plays a crucial role in SA defense pathway via synthesis of SA from the biologically inactive form of MeSA (Kumar and Klessig 2003). Cloning of SABP2 encoding gene, purification, and characterization of its protein demonstrated that SABP2 is a SA-stimulated lipase/esterase activity SABP2-silenced plants are defective in developing SAR (Kumar and Klessig 2008). It was recently reported that SABP2 is required for acibenzolar S-methyl (ASM), a synthetic analog of SA mediated activation of SAR in tobacco (Tripathi et al. 2010)

SABP2-Interacting Proteins (SBIPs)

The identification and characterization of SABP2 has opened the door to perform more biochemical and genetic analysis to identify and characterize more components and molecular mechanisms that might be involved in SABP2 mediated SA pathway signal transduction. In the light of this, an attempt was made to expand analysis of putative cellular proteins that interact with SABP2 and might play an important role directly or indirectly in SA pathway using yeast 2hybrid screening (Y2H), which is an *in vivo* tool used for the identifying protein-protein interactions between two proteins called "bait" and "prey". Bait is the protein of interest and preys are their interaction partners (preys) (Brückner et al. 2009). In this screening SABP2 was used as bait (Fused to Gal4 binding domain) and tobacco leaf proteins as prey proteins (expressed as a fusion partner to Gal4 activation domain) (Fig.3). When a protein interacts with SABP2, the activating domain comes close to the binding domain and a transcription factor is activated upstream of the reporter gene allowing the yeast to grow on a selective medium, changes color to blue, and exhibits antibiotic resistance. Several interactors of SABP2 were identified and named as SABP2-Interacting Proteins (SBIPs), and each interactor was numbered by the number of the clone. One among these interacting proteins is SBIP-355. Bioinformatics

analysis shows that SBIP-355 has high homology to "Responsive to Dehydration 22" (RD22)like protein.



Figure 3: Yeast 2-Hybrid System. SABP2 and SBIP are 2 interacting proteins; BD and AD are Protein-binding domain and transcription activator domain, respectively.

Responsive to Dehydration-22 (RD22)-like Protein

RD22 gene is a responsive to dehydration gene of *Arabidopsis* and encodes a protein of unknown function (Yamaguchi-Shinozaki and Shinozaki 1993; Xiong et al. 2001). It is one of the drought-induced genes whose expression is mediated by ABA and requires de novo protein biosynthesis (Yamaguchi-Shinozaki and Shinozaki 1993). The promoter region of the *RD22* gene was analyzed in transgenic tobacco plants containing promoter-*p*-glucuronidase (GUS) fusion genes, and it was demonstrated that a 67-bp DNA fragment of the *RD22* promoter contains *cis*-acting elements involved in dehydration and ABA-responsive gene expression (Iwasaki et al. 1995). ABA activates *RD22* expression by activating the coding regions *RD22BP1* or *AtMYC2* of the transcription factor MYC and *AtMYB2* of MYB, which bind to *cis*-elements promoter region of *RD22*, and then they induces the expression of the *RD22* gene (Fig.4) (Abe et al. 1997). Because MYC and MYB proteins synthesized after accumulation of ABA and RD22 activation requires de novo protein biosynthesis, observation indicates that MYC and MYB transactivate the *rd22* gene under dehydration conditions (Abe et al. 1997).

RD22 has often been used as a marker gene for drought stress treatment in different plants.

Reports have revealed that it is expressed only under water deficit conditions and ABA

treatment, but not by cold or heat stress treatments (Yamaguchi-Shinozaki and Shinozaki 1993).



Figure 4: A Model for the Induction of the *rd22* Gene under Water Deficit Stress Conditions. Dehydration or salt stress triggers the production of ABA, which induces the expression of *rd22BPl* and *Atmyb2*. *rd22BP1* and *ATMYB2* then bind to the MYC and MYB sites of the *rd22* promoter and activate the expression of the *rd22* gene. (Figure adapted from Abe et al. 1997).

MYB Transcription Factor

Seo et al. (2009) reported that R2R3-type MYB transcription factor MYB96 is required for proper expression of RD22. They used in their experiment a MYB96-overexpressing *Arabidopsis* mutant (*myb96-ox*) and a T-DNA insertional knockout mutant (*myb96-1d*). The RD22 expression was elevated by approximately 12-fold in the *myb96-ox* mutant but reduced by 3- to 4-fold in the *myb96-1d* mutant, these findings indicate that MYB96 is required for proper expression of *RD22*. Although *RD22* was still induced by drought in the *myb96-1d* mutant, the transcript level was significantly lower than that in wild-type plants exposed to drought, which shows that the induction of RD22 is dependent at MYB96 under drought stress (Seo et al. 2009).

It was also reported that MYB96 plays diverse roles in plant responses to biotic and abiotic stresses and acts as a signaling link that integrates ABA and SA signals and interacts between them (Seo and Park 2010). MYB96 acts through the ABA-mediated abiotic stress signals signaling pathway to induce pathogen resistance by promoting SA biosynthesis and thus regulating stomata movement, drought tolerance, and disease resistance (Seo and Park 2010). In their work they tested pathogen resistance responses, expression levels of the SA biosynthetic, and signaling genes of the activation-tagging *myb96-1d* line and the *myb96-1* mutant. It was found that the activation-tagging *myb96-1d* line was resistant to drought and pathogen infection. However, the T-DNA insertional myb96-1 mutant was susceptible to drought and pathogen infection. However, SA biosynthetic gene SA Induction Deficient2 (SID2) was up-regulated, and the levels of SA were elevated in the activation-tagging myb96-1d line, which demonstrates that the increased SA biosynthesis levels, enhances pathogen resistance of the mutant. In addition, ABA and water deficit conditions induced the SID2 gene. In contrast, the inductive effects of ABA were reduced in the *myb96-1* mutant, which indicates that the MYB96 is required for the SID2 induction by ABA mediated abiotic stress signals (Seo and Park 2010).

BURP Domain-Containing Protein Family

Bioinformatics analysis showed that RD22-like protein belongs to the BURP domaincontaining protein family. BURP domain is found at the C-terminus of several different plant proteins and contains around 230 amino acid residues long (Peng et al. 2011). The BURP domain has taken its name from the proteins which were first identified: Brassica protein BNM2, which is expressed during the induction of microspore embryogenesis, Soybean USP-like proteins, a protein that is up-regulated by aluminium, Arabidopsis RD22 drought induced protein and Tomato PG1beta, the beta-subunit of polygalacturonase isozyme 1 (PG1), which is expressed in ripening fruits (Xu et al. 2010). The molecular structure of the domain included four cystein-histidine (CH) repeats and 1 tryptophan residue. The spacing between the 4 CH residues is highly conserved, being X5-CH-X10-CH-X23-27-CH-X23-26-CH-X8-W, where X is any amino acid (Xu et al. 2010). However, the difference mostly occurred in the region immediately downstream of the hydrophobic signal peptide. This region contains a short conserved segment and an optional segment of repeated units (Xu et al. 2010). The BNM2-like subfamily proteins are directly linked to the C-terminal region by a short conserved segment following the signal peptide (Hattori et al. 1998; Ding et al. 2009). The USP-like subfamily and RD22-like subfamily proteins have a region containing ~30 amino acid residues followed by a variable region. However, the variable region for the RD22-like subfamily proteins consists of repeat sequences (Granger et al. 2002). The PG1 β -like family proteins can be distinguished from other protein members by the presence of multiple copies of a 14 amino-acid repeat sequence. As mentioned previously, BURP domain proteins share primary structural features; however, conditions under which they are expressed differ. It is suggested that the BURP domain localization is within the cell wall matrix. The molecular function of this domain is still unknown, and it is suggested that their functions may be plant specific because it is so far only found in plants (Xu et al. 2010).

Hypotheses

Hypothesis 1: SBIP-355 is a RD22-Like Protein of tobacco plants.

Analysis of the SBIP-355 partial sequence, which was obtained from Y2H screening, suggests that it is a BURP-domain containing protein and shares a high homology with other RD22 like proteins subfamily. So, it is crucial to verify if SBIP-355 is indeed a tobacco RD22 like protein.

Hypothesis 2: SBIP-355 interacts with SABP2 to alter the activity of SA mediated pathway in plants during abiotic stress.

Result of Y2H screen shows that SBIP-355 interacts with SABP2, leads us to determine if SABP2 has an effect in the *SBIP-355* gene expression during abiotic stress. Investigations are required to reach a conclusion about the interaction between SABP2 and SBIP-355.

CHAPTER 2

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Materials

Plant Materials

Before sowing the tobacco, *Nicotiana tabacum* cv. *Xanthi nc* seeds, soil containing peat moss (Fafard F-15, Agawam, MA) was autoclaved for 20 minutes. Fourteen days after sowing the tobacco seeds, the seedlings were transferred to 4 x 4 inch flats and were grown for 4 weeks. Subsequently, individual plantlets were transferred to 8-inch pots. All stages of planting were performed in a controlled PGW36 growth chamber (Conviron, Canada) set at 16 h of day/8 h of night cycle maintained at 22 °C. Experiments were carried out using 8- to 10-week old plants.

Chemicals and Reagents

Sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS), ß-mercaptoethanol (ß-ME), tetramethylethylenediamine (TEMED), ammonium persulfate (APS), bovine serum albumin (BSA), coomassie blue R-250, coomassie brilliant blue G-250, ponceau-S, ethylene diaminetetra acetic acid (EDTA), TRIS base, glycine, glycerol, methanol, imidazole, Tween-20, Triton X-100, and all other standard chemicals were purchased from Fisher Scientific, Pittsburgh, PA. The 30% acrylamide solution, Bradford's reagent, prestained low molecular weight marker, 10x SDS loading buffer, SDS dye were purchased from Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA. Polyvinylidene fluoride (PVDF) membranes were purchased from Millipore, Billerica, MA. Bicinchoninic acid (BCA), Pierce ECL western blotting substrate was purchased from Thermo Scientific, Rockford, IL. Kodak developer and

fixer replenisher were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO. Mouse monoclonal anti poly-Histidine antibody and Goat anti-Mouse HRP conjugate for Western blotting were purchased from Sigma, Oligo dT-20, Taq DNA polymerase (Invitrogen, CA), dithiothreitol (DTT), DNA ladder (New England Biolabs), MMLV reverse transcriptase, RNAse free DNAse, recombinant RNAsin (Promega), and gel loading dye (Bio-Rad).

Buffers

Buffers used in this study are described in Appendix B.

<u>Labware</u>

All reusable plastic and glass labware were autoclaved before use. Labware were ordered from Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, Thermo Scientific, Rockford, IL and Eppendorf, Hamburg, Germany.

Vectors

pDONR221 vector, pDEST17 vector and their reagents for Gateway BP and LR recombination reactions were obtained from Invitrogen (Carlsbad, CA).

<u>Kits</u>

Platinum *Pfx* DNA Polymerase Kit and PureLink Quick Plasmid Miniprep Kit were purchased from Invitrogen (Carlsbad, CA). QIAquick PCR Purification Kit was obtained from Qiagen (Valencia, CA).

Bactrial Strains

Chemically competent *E. coli* DH5 α , TOP10, and BL21 (DE3) Mgk cells were used for transformations as cloning host or for protein expression. DH5 α and BL21 (DE3) Magic cells were prepared in the lab (described in the method section), while TOP10 cells were purchased from Invitrogen (Carlsbad, CA).

<u>Apparatus</u>

Vortex and Shakers were purchased from Scientific Industries. Microcentrifuge and Thermal Cycler for PCR were obtained from Eppendorf. NanoDrop ND-1000 Spectrophotometer was purchased from Thermo Scientific. Gel Electrophoresis Apparatus for DNA separation was obtained from Fisher Biotech. Protein separation and Western Blotting System were obtained from Bio-Rad. Gel Documentation/Analysis System (UVP), Autoclave Machine, pH meter, Laboratory Fume Hoods, Mechanical Grinder, Top Loading Balance for weighing needs, and Absorbance Reader were used.

Oligonucleotides

The primers used for cloning of SBIP-355 were designed by following Gateway Cloning technology manual provided from Invitrogen, while the primers made to study gene expression were designed manually and analyzed by oligo analyser software. Primers were ordered from Eurofins MWG Operon. Upon receiving the primers, they were dissolved in sterile nuclease-free water and stored at -20 °C for future use. Listed below (Table. 1) are the primers used in this study or for future gene expression study.

Primer #	Primers	Sequence (5'to 3')	Purpose
DK525	attB1 Forward Primer	GGGGACAAGTTTGTACAAAAAGCAGGCTCC ATGGAGTTGAAGCTCCTT	Cloning of SBIP-355
DK526	attB2 Reverse Primer	GGGGACCACTTTGTACAAGAAAGCTGGGTGC TAGTTCTTAGGAACCCA	Cloning of SBIP-355
DK553	SBIP-355 Forward Primer	TAGTTTGCCACAAGCAGAATT	Gene expression analysis
DK554	SBIP-355 Forward Primer	AGAAACAACGGAGTCATACAT	Gene expression analysis
DK555	SBIP-355 Reverse Primer	GTTCTTAGGAACCCAAACAAT	Gene expression analysis
DK629	SBIP-355 Forward Primer	CAATTACGCCGCCAAAGATG	Gene expression analysis
DK630	SBIP-355 Reverse Primer	TCAGAGTCGGGCTTAACTGA	Gene expression analysis

Table 1: List of Primers Used in This Study or for Future Study

<u>Methods</u>

Identification, Cloning, and Expression of SBIP-355

Bioinformatics Analysis

Partial sequence of SBIP-355 was obtained from the yeast 2-hybrid screening (Y2H). The full-length nucleotide sequence of SBIP-355 for Nicotiana tabacum was identified from the SOL Genomics Network (SGN) using the partial SBIP-355 nucleotide sequence (http://solgenomics.net; Bombarely et al. 2011). The full-length of nucleotide sequence was converted to Open Reading Frames (ORF) using ORF Finder tool from National Center for Biotechnology Information (NCBI) (<u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/gorf/gorf.html</u>). To translate nucleotide sequence into protein sequence, the Expert Protein Analysis System tool (ExPASy) (Swiss Institute of Bioinformatics) was used (www.expasy.org; Artimo et al. 2012). To identify homologous sequences of SBIP-355 from other plant species, Basic Local Alignment Search Tool (BLAST) from NCBI was used (http://blast.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/Blast.cgi; Altschul et al. 1990). Alignment of SBIP-355 with similar proteins was performed using multiple sequence alignment tool (ClustalW2) operated by The European Bioinformatics Institute (EBI) (www.ebi.ac.uk/Tools/msa/clustalw2; Larkin et al. 2007). Conserved amino acids were identified by using conserved domain database (CDD) tool from NCBI (Marchler et al. 2011). Protein molecular weight of SBIP-355 was determined using the Protein Molecular Weight tool from Bioinformatics Organization (<u>http://bioinformatics.org</u>). To predict the presence and location of signal peptide cleavage site in SBIP-355 sequence, PrediSi tool from Technical University of Braunschweig was used (http://www.predisi.de; Hiller et al. 2004).). Phylogenetic tree using the

Neighbor-Joining method was constructed with Phylodendron, a phylogenetic tree drawing tool provided by Indiana University (<u>http://iubio.bio.indiana.edu/treeapp</u>).

Total RNA Extraction from Tobacco Leaves Using TRIzol Reagent

To avoid contamination, leaf tissue samples were collected using sterilized cork borer, micro-centrifuge tubes, and disposable gloves. Three to 4 leaf discs were collected from 6- to 8week old of tobacco XNN (wild-type plants). Samples were frozen immediately in liquid nitrogen in order to prevent degradation (Ian 2005). Using mechanical grinder, leaf samples were ground in presence of liquid nitrogen to obtain a fine powder. One milliliter of Tri Reagent (TRIzol) was added and mixed by inverting the tube to help cell lysis from tissue samples. After incubation for 5 minutes in room temperature, $200 \,\mu$ l of chloroform were added to the reaction and mixed by inverting the tube for 15 seconds, and incubated at room temperature for 2 minutes. This mixture was centrifuged at 12,000 g for 10 min at 4°C, and the aqueous phase was transfered into a new tube. RNA was precipitated by adding 500 μ L of isopropyl alcohol to the solution and incubated at 28°C for 10 minutes. Then, it was centrifuged at 12,000 g for 10 min at 4°C. The supernatant was discarded and the pellet recovered. The RNA pellet was washed with 1 ml cold 75% ethanol and the tube was gently vortexed to wash the RNA. The tube was centrifuged at 7,500 xg for 5 min in 4°C. The supernatant was discarded and the pellet recovered was air-dried under a hood for about 10 to 15 min. RNA was dissolved into 43 μ L diethyl dicarbonate (DEPC) treated water and placed in 55°C water bath for 5 min. Five microliter DNAse buffer and 2µl of DNAse unit were added remove the genomic DNA then it was incubated at 37°C for 20 minutes. All the steps were repeated with half volumes of TRIzol,

Chloroform, Isopropyl alcohol, and cold 75% Ethanol. After obtaining the pellet, it was resuspended in 20 µl of DEPC-treated water and placed at 55°C water bath for 10 minutes. The quality and quantity of the purified RNA was determined using NanoDrop ND-1000 UV-Vis Spectrophotometer at 260 nm. Finally, RNA was ready for cDNA synthesis.

cDNA Synthesis

After determining total RNA concentration, reverse transcription (RT) reaction was performed to make cDNA from the total RNA. To prime the first-strand of cDNA from the purified RNA sample, 2µl of oligo(dT18) was added to the sample and it was incubated at 75°C for 10 minutes in PCR machine. While sample was incubating, cDNA mix was prepared. cDNA mix contained of 4µl of RT 5X Buffer, 1µl of RT, 1µl of 10 mM deoxynucleoside triphosphates (dNTPs) mixture, 1µl of RNAse Inhibitor (RNasin) and 3µl of DEPC treated water. 10 µl of oligo dT +RNA after incubation in PCR machine and 10 µl of cDNA mixture were added together and mixed gently. The sample was incubated at 42°C for 60 minutes then 70°C for 10 minutes in PCR machine. The quality of the prepared cDNA was tested by amplifying tobacco EF1α housekeeping gene using PCR and then running on a 1.2% agarose gel. cDNA was stored at -20°C until the use time.

Gateway Recombination Cloning Technology

In order to express SBIP-355 protein, cloning of the gene into expression vector (pDEST17) was required. With a view to save time and effort that traditional restriction enzymes and ligase cloning methods usually consume, highly efficient and rapid Gateway Recombination

Cloning Technology from Invitrogen was used (Fig.5). This method is based on *in vitro* site specific recombination properties of bacteriophage lambda λ (*att* site). BP and LR recombination reactions are the 2 main basis of the Gateway Cloning System. BP recombination reaction exchanges the region between *attB* sites in the DNA attachment sites or PCR product (SBIP-355) with the region of vector containing *attP* sites (pDONR221) to create an entry vector by the catalysis of BP Clonase enzymes. Once integrated, the recombination site is termed *attL*. While, LR recombination reaction exchanges the region between *attL* sites in the entry clone and the *attR* site in the destination vector (pDEST17) to create an expression clone with *attB* sites by mediation of LR Clonase enzyme. Each *att* site has a unique specificity for its binding partner recombination *att* site (for example *attBl* reacts with *attPl*, or *attLl* with *attRl*) and does not cross-react with other recombination *att* sites (*attBl* does not react with *attP2*). Additionally, the system has dual selection systems. By imposing antibiotic resistance selection for the desired construct and a selection (encoded by the *ccdB* gene) against starting molecules and intermediates, the desired clone is obtained (Curtis and Grossniklaus 2003).



Figure 5: An Overview of Cloning of SBIP-355 into pDEST17 Using Gateway System.

Amplification of SBIP-355 Gene Using PCR

attB-containing primers were designed following Gateway Cloning technology manual provided by Invitrogen and used for cloning of SBIP-355. The full-length of SBIP-355 gene was amplified for cloning by PCR using the *att*B primers containing sites and tobacco XNN cDNA as template. The PCR was performed by using Platinum *Pfx* DNA Polymerase kit. The following reagents were added to a 0.2 ml PCR tubes: 1.5 µl 10 mM dNTP mixture (final concentration: 0.3 mM); 1 µl 50 mM MgSO4 (final concentration: 1 mM); 1.5 µl DK525 (final concentration: 0.3 µM); 1.5 µl DK526 (final concentration: 0.3 µM); 2 µl cDNA (final concentration: 10-200 ng); 5 µl 10× *Pfx* Amplification Buffer; 0.4 µl Platinum *Pfx* DNA Polymerase (1 Unit) and 37.1 µl water for 50 µl total reaction volume. PCR conditions were as follows: an initial denaturation step at 94 °C for 4 min was followed by amplification for 40 cycles (denaturation for 30 sec at 94 °C, annealing for 30 sec at 55 °C, extension for 2 min at 68 °C) and final extension for 8 min at 68 °C.

Analysis of SBIP-355 Amplification by Agarose Gel Electrophoresis

Agarose gel was run after PCR amplification of SBIP-355. Agarose gel (1.2%) was used to resolve ~1167bp of DNA. To prepare 1.2% agarose gel, the following recipe was used: 0.60 g of agarose was weighed and and placed into a 250ml flask filed with 50 ml of 1X TAE electrophoresis buffer; the agarose was melted by heating in microwave oven on high for 1 minute; the flask was cooled down in a 55°C water bath for 10-15 minutes; after cooling down the mixture, 2.5 μ l of Ethidium bromide (EtBr) dye (10mg/ml) was added to help visualize the DNA band under UV; gel mixture was poured into a gel casting tray containing a sample comb and allowed to solidify for about 15-20 minutes; after the gel had solidified, the comb was carefully removed; the orientation of the tray was rotated so that the wells are toward the negative electrode to allow the DNA sample to migrate toward the positive electrode and then, the gel was covered with the of 1x Tris-Acetate EDTA (TAE) electrophoresis buffer (Appendix B); 6µl of 100 bp DNA Ladder (Concentration: 25 ng/µl) was added to the first well as a marker to help determine the size of the DNA; the DNA sample was prepared to be loaded by adding 2µl of 6X DNA dye with 5µl of the PCR product sample and pipetted into the second well; the lid and power leads were placed on the apparatus; the electric power was applied at 80 volts for 45-60 minutes. After separation, the DNA band was visualized under UV light at the correct size.

Purification of PCR Product Using PCR Purification Kit

After the successful PCR amplification of SBIP-355 was verified, PCR-amplified DNA was purified using QIAGEN QIAquick PCR purification kit following the manufacturer's protocol. The only modification being that final elution was performed using 30 µl of 10 mM Tris·Cl, pH 8.5. Purified DNA sample was quantified by spectrophotometer (NanoDrop ND-1000), and then it was examined by 1.2% agarose gel electrophoresis.

Cloning SBIP-355 into an Entry Vector (pDONR221) Using BP Reaction

The purified DNA was recombined with the pDONR221 entry vector using BP clonase enzyme mix from Invitrogen, following the manufacturer's protocol. The following reagents were added to perform BP recombination reaction: 1 μ l of PCR-product, 1 μ l of pDONR221
(150 ng/ μ l), 2 μ l of BP Clonase II, and 6 μ l of TE buffer. The mixture was incubated at room temperature for 1 hour. After incubation, One microliter of Proteinase K solution was added to the mixture to stop the reaction and was incubated for 10 min at 37°C.

Preparation of Chemically Competent E. coli DH5a Cells Using Calcium Chloride

In the first day a frozen glycerol stock of *E. coli* DH5α bacterial cells was streaked on an LB plate with no antibiotics, and then the plate was incubated overnight at 37°C. On the following day, a single colony of E. coli DH5a from the plate was selected and inoculated in 3 ml of fresh LB-broth and incubate overnight at 37°C. The following day 1 ml of the overnight culture was transferred into a 1 L flask containing 500 ml LB culture and incubated at 37 °C in shaker at 250 rpm for 2 hrs, and then the optical density (OD) at 600 nm was measured every 15-20 minutes until it reaches 0.35-0.4 and was placed immediately on ice and chilled for 20-30 minutes. After cooling down the bacterial culture, it was transferred to sterile and ice-cold 50 ml polypropylene tubes. The cells were harvested by centrifugation at 4000 rpm for 10 minutes at 4° C. The supernatant was discarded and the pellet was gently resuspend in 10 ml of ice cold 0.1 M CaCl₂ and stored on ice for 20-30 minutes. After that, the cells were recovered by centrifugation at 4000 rpm for 10 minutes at 4°C. The supernatant was removed and the pellet was gently resuspend in 2 ml of ice cold 0.1 M CaCl₂ and stored on ice for 15-20 minutes, glycerol was added to 20% final concentration. At this point cells were dispensed into aliquots of 200 µl into sterile chilled microcentrifuge tubes and were snapped frozed in liquid nitrogen. Finally, tubes of chemically competent E. coli DH5a cells were stored at -80°C.

36

Transformation of Chemically Competent E. coli DH5α Cells

One vial of chemically competent *E. coli* DH5 α competent cell was thawed on ice for 10-15 minutes, and then 1µl of BP recombination reaction mix was added and swirled on ice gently and then incubated on ice for 30 min. After the incubation the cells ware heat-shocked for 30 sec at 42°C water bath without shaking and it was placed again on ice for 2 min. After cooling down, 250 µl of SOC media was added to the cells and the tube was capped tightly to incubate it at 37 °C shaker at 250 rpm for 1h. After that, 20 µl of the transformation mix was added to 180 µl of LB medium. On 2 prewarmed LB agar plates containing 50µg/ml kanamycin, 20 µl and 100 µl of the diluted transformation mix were spread using autoclaved glass beads. The plates were incubated overnight at 37 °C to allow for colony growth.

Confirmation of SBIP-355 Insertion into pDONR221 by Colony PCR

In order to verify presence of SBIP-355 in pDONR221 and determine if the cloning worked, colony PCR was performed. Colonies were chosen from the transformation plates and streaked with a pipette tip on a new LB agar plate containing 50 μ g/ml kanamycin as a master plate, then it was incubated at 37°C overnight. The same tip used for streaking was placed in PCR tubes containing 40 μ l of autoclaved water. The primers specific for the pDONR221 vector were used (M13 forward and M13 reverse) for amplification. In a new 0.2 ml PCR tubes, 10 μ l of resuspended colony was added with the following PCR reaction reagents: 2 μ l of 10x PCR Buffer, 2 μ l of dNTP (0.1M), 0.4 μ l of M13 forward primer, 0.4 μ l M13 reverse primer, 0.2 μ l Taq polymerase, and 5 μ l water for 10 μ l total reaction. PCR conditions were as follows: an initial denaturation step at 94 °C for 4 min was followed by amplification for 30 cycles (denaturation for 30 sec at 94 °C, annealing for 30 sec at 55 °C, extension for 1.15 min at 72 °C) and final extension for 8 min at 72 °C. The amplified products were tested by 0.8% agarose gel electrophoreses.

Purification of Plasmid DNA (pDONR221-SBIP-355) Using Plasmid Miniprep Kit

Invitrogen pure Link quick plasmid miniprep kit was used to purify the pDONR221 vector from *E. coli* DH5 α that were identified as positive with the colony PCR. Purification was followed according to manufacturer's protocol. The purified plasmid DNA samples were quantified by spectrophotometer (NanoDrop ND-1000), and then they were examined by 0.8% agarose gel electrophoresis.

Sequencing of Purified Plasmid DNA (pDONR221-SBIP-355)

DNA sequencing was used to verify the exact sequence of SBIP-355 cloned into the pDONR221. The purified plasmid DNA samples were sent for sequencing to DNA Analysis Facility at Yale University. The samples were sequenced by Sanger method using M13 primers. Obtained sequences were compared with the predicted SBIP-355 sequence using clustalw2 tool to help align multiple sequences.

Construction of Expression Vector by Subcloning of pDONR221-SBIP-355 into pDEST17

After analysis of the sequencing results, the clone that showed the highest homology with the predicted SBIP-355 sequence was chosen for the LR recombination reaction that allows recombination between the entry clone (pDONR221) that contains the gene of interest (SBIP-355) flanked by attL sites and a destination vector (pDEST17) , which adds a 6X His tag fused on the N terminal of proteins; and contains attR sites to generate an expression clone by the aid of the enzyme LR Clonase I. LR recombination reaction was preformed following the manufacturer's protocol. The following reagents were added to perform the reaction: 1µl of pDONR221-SBIP-355 (120 ng/µl), 1µl of pDEST17 (150 ng/µl), 2µl of LR Clonase I and 6µl of TE buffer. The mixture was incubated at room temperature for 1 hour. After incubation, 1 microliter of Proteinase K solution was added to the mixture to stop the reaction and was incubated for 10 min at 37°C. After that, 1µl of LR recombination reaction was used to transform 100 µl of Invitrogen TOP10 chemically competent cells by the heat shock method. Transformed cells were spread on a LB agar plate containing 100µg/ml ampicillin and incubated overnight at 37 °C to allow for colony growth.

Purification of pDEST17-SBIP-355

Invitrogen pure Link quick plasmid miniprep kit was used to purify pDEST17-SBIP-355 from TOP10. Purification was followed according to manufacturer's protocol. The purified plasmid was quantified by spectrophotometer (NanoDrop ND-1000) and was analyzed by 0.8% agarose gel electrophoresis.

<u>Transformation of pDEST17-SBIP-355 into Chemically Competent E. coli BL21 (DE3) Magic</u> <u>Cells</u>

Chemically competent BL21 (DE3) Mgk cells have the T7 promoter expression system, which normally is capable of producing more protein than any other bacterial expression system (Guide to Gene Expression in BL21, 2014). Magic cells were prepared following the same protocol of preparation of DH5 α cells. Transformations of pDEST17-SBIP-355 into competent cells were performed by adding 27 ng of plasmid DNA to 100 µl of Magic competent cells by the heat shock method. Transformed cells were spread on a LB agar plate containing 100µg/ml ampicillin and 10µg/ml kanamycin. Plate was incubated overnight at 37 °C to allow for colony growth.

Test for Small Scale Recombinant Protein Expression pDEST17-SBIP-355 in E. coli

A colony of recombinant bacteria from the LB-agar plate was selected, inoculated into 3 ml of liquid LB containing ampicillin (100 μ g/ml) and kanamycin (10 μ g/ml), and incubated at 37 °C for 3 hours with shaking at 250 rpm until the desired OD600 achieved 0.6. One milliliter of the culture was centrifuged at maximum speed for 3 minutes, and then the pellet was kept as an uniduced control at -20 °C until the time of use. The rest of the bacterial culture was subjected to induction by adding 1mM isopropyl- β -D-thiogalactoside (IPTG) and incubated at 37 °C for 3hrs with shaking at 250 rpm. Following incubation, centrifugation was performed to collect pellet from the bacterial culture. Induced and uninduced samples were resuspended in 100 μ l of 1x SDS loading buffer (Appendix B). Then these samples incubated in boiling water bath for 5 minutes. After boiling they were centrifuged at 13,000 rpm for 10 minutes. Ten microliter of the

samples were loaded to detect protein expression onto a 12 % sodium dodecyl sulfate polyacrylamide (SDS- PAGE) gel along with 8 µl of protein marker with a range of 14 kDa to 97 kDa for size reference, and then followed by western blot analysis for confirmation.

Sodium Dodecyl Sulfate Polyacrylamide Gel Electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE)

SDS-PAGE is a method used for separating proteins according to their size. It was carried out by following Laemmli-SDS-PAGE method (Laemmli 1970). Before preparing the gel, the gel cast was assembled with 1.5 mm spacers and checked for leaks with distilled water. After that, 12 % polyacrylamide gels were prepared for separation according to the Laemmli's protocol (Appendix B). Then the supernatant of the prepared induced and uninduced samples were loaded into the gel wells. The gel was electrophoresed at constant 200V and proteins were allowed to separate for 1 hr and followed by Coomassie brilliant blue staining to visualize the proteins bands, and then the gel was destained with destaining solution (Appendix B).

Western Blot Analysis

Western blot is a test used to detect desired proteins separated by SDS-PAGE using highquality antibody directed against the desired proteins. The test is performed by transfer of protein from SDS-PAGE gel onto polyvinylidene difluoride membrane (PVDF). Prior to transferring of SDS-PAGE, the PVDV membrane was cut to the correct size for the SDS-PAGE gel and prepared for transfer by soaking in 100% methanol for 15 seconds and then rinsed with water. The western blot cassettes with sponge were soaked in a glass pan containing cold 1X transfer

41

buffer (Appendix B). SDS-PAGE gel was carefully removed from the glass plates and soaked in cold 1X transfer buffer for 10 min. The SDS-PAGE gel and PVDF membrane were sandwiched in the western blot cast between two Whatman papers. The cast was loaded into the tank and an ice pack was added before adding the cold 1X transfer buffer addition. Transfer was conducted at a constant 100V for 1 hour in the cold room (4 °C). After transferring of proteins to the PVDE membrane, the membrane was rinsed in 100% methanol for 10 seconds, placed on a Whatman paper for 10 minutes to dry, and rinsed again in methanol for 10 seconds. The membrane was stained with ponceau stain for 2 minutes (Appendix B) to visualize the protein bands. The membrane was washed off with 1x phosphate buffer saline to remove off stain (Appendix B). Western blot is probed with adding the primary antibody against the target protein; therefore, the membrane was incubated in the primary antibody (anti-polyHistidine mouse monoclonal antibody prepared in blocking buffer in a 1:1000 dilution) and kept overnight at 4 °C on a horizontal shaker. Following incubation, the blocking buffer with the primary antibody was removed from the membrane. To remove unbound antibodies from the membrane, it was washed gently with (1x PBS buffer, 1x PBS + 3% tween 20 buffer, and then 1x PBS) consecutively 3 times for 5 minutes each in a horizontal shaker (Appendix B). After the washing, the blot was probed again by adding a secondary antibody (antimouse IgG in goat with HRP conjugate diluted to 1:5000 in blocking buffer). The incubation was for 1 hour room temperature on a horizontal shaker. After that, the same previous washing process was performed again. Finally, detection of signal took place in a dark room using enzyme linked chemiluminescence (ECL) detection reagents (A and B). ECL reagent A was mixed with reagent B in a 1:1 ratio and poured on the membrane with gentle shaking to cover it up for 1 minute. The membrane was placed between plastic wrap after discarding the fluid and then was put on autoradiography cassette

containing an X-ray film. It was exposed for 1 to 5 minutes. The membrane was developed (in developer, water, and fixer) consecutively once for 2 minute. The film was air dried and signal was recorded by photography.

CHAPTER 3

RESULTS

Bioinformatics Analysis of SBIP-355

The full length genomic sequence (SGN-U446947) of SBIP-355 (Fig. 6) was obtained from the SGN database of *Nicotiana tabacum* using the partial sequence of SBIP-355 (Fig. 7) that was obtained by sequencing yeast 2-hybrid clone. The sequence analysis shows that the full length sequence of SBIP-355 (SGN-U446947) is 1399 bp in length and 1167 bp of ORF. According to the SGN-U446947, SBIP-355 ORF encodes a protein of 388 amino acid residues (Fig. 8), containing a BURP domain (Fig. 9). Alignment of SBIP-355 with similar proteins showed that it contained a 230 amino acid long conserved BURP domain at its C-terminus (Fig.10). To investigate the evolutionary relationships of SBIP-355, a phylogenetic tree was generated from the amino acid sequences of multiple BURP domain-containing proteins from various plant species. The phylogenetic tree was analyzed by Phylodendron tool using the Neighbor-Joining method. The phylogenetic analysis showed that SBIP-355 was clustered into the subfamily that contains all the RD22-like proteins (Fig.11). PrediSi tool was employed to detect the presence and location of signal peptide cleavage sites in amino acid sequences of SBIP-355. Results indicated that SBIP-355 has a signal peptide, at the first 21 amino acids region (Fig. 12).

>SGN-U446947

AGTTCAACCATGGAGTTGAAGCTCCTTCACGTCCTCACTTACCTTTCGTTGGCACTAGTGGCAAGTTA TGCAGCTCTTCCTCCTGCATCGAGCGGTCAAACTTATTGGAATACTAAGCTGCCTAATACGCCCATCC CAAAGGCAATCAAAGATTCTCTGCAGCCAACTGGATTGACGGAGGACAAAAGCACTTCAGTGGAAGTA GGCAAAGGCGGAGTAAACGTCAACACCGGCAAGGGGCACTCCGGCAGCGGCACTAACGTCAACGTTGG CCACAAAGGTGTCGGCGTAAGCACTGGCAAGGGTCACTCCGGCAGGGGAGCCAACGTCAACGTCGGCC ACAAAGGCGTGGGCGTAAGCACCGGGGGGGGGGGAACCCACGTTGGCGTCGGCAAAGGAGGAGTCGGCGTG ACCACTCCCGGCCACCACGGAAGGCCGCCGGTGTACGTCGGTGTACGTCCCCGGACCGTCACCTTTTGT **TTACAATTACGCCGCCAAAGATGATCAACTTCACGACAACCCAAACGTCGCTCTTTTTTCCTTGAGA** AAGACTTGCACCAAGGTAGTAACATGAACTTGCAGTTTGTGAAAAACTACAAAAAATGCCGCCACTTTC TTGCCTCGCCAAGTAGCAAATTCTATTCCCTTTTCGTCAAACAAGATGCCAGAAATTCTTAGCCAGTT TTCAGTTAAGCCCGACTCTGAAGAAGCTCAGATCTTGAAGCAAACTGTCCAAGAATGTGAAGAGCCAG **GTATTAAAGGAGAAGAAGTACTGTGCTACTTCATTAGAATCCATGGTTGATTTCAGCACATCAAAG** TTAGGAAACAAAGTACAACCAGTATCAACAGAGACAGAGAAAGGAAACACAAATGCAGAAATACACAAT TCTAGGAGCCAAGAAAATGGGAAATGGGAAATCTGATGCTGTAGTTTGCCACAAGCAGAATTATGCAT **GGAACAAAGGCTAAAGCAGTAGCTGTTTGCCATAAGGATACTTCAGCTTGGAATCCAAAACATTTGGC TTTGGGTTCCTAAGAACTAG**CTTTATACATAGATGATGTTAGTTTTATTATCTTTTTATTTGTGTTGT TTTTATGTAATAATTCAGAGTATGTTGTGCTTATTATTACAGTTTTATCTTGTAATACTTCAGTATAC GAATAAATAATTTCAGCATATATTTTAGCGGCCGCATGA

Figure 6: ORF of SBIP-355 in SGN Database. Sequence in red indicates the nucleotides of SBIP-355 with start and stop codon (SGN-U446947).

Figure 7: Partial Nucleotide Sequence of SBIP-355 obtained from Yeast Two-Hybrid Screening.

MELKLLHVLTYLSLALVASYAALPPASSGQTYWNTKLPNTPIPKAIKDSLQPTGLTEDKSTSVEVGKGG VNVNTGKGHSGSGTNVNVGHKGVGVSTGKGHSGRGANVNVGHKGVGVSTGGGTHVGVGKGGVGVTTPGH HGRPPVYVGVRPGPSPFVYNYAAKDDQLHDNPNVALFFLEKDLHQGSNMNLQFVKTTKNAATFLPRQVA NSIPFSSNKMPEILSQFSVKPDSEEAQILKQTVQECEEPGIKGEEKYCATSLESMVDFSTSKLGNKVQP VSTETEKETQMQKYTILGAKKMGNGKSDAVVCHKQNYAYAVFYCHKTETTESYMVSLVGADGTKAKAVA VCHKDTSAWNPKHLAFKVLKVTPGSVPVCHFLPEDHIVWVPKN

Figure 8: Amino Acid Sequence of SBIP-355 Translated by ExPASy Tool.



Figure 9: BLAST Search Result of SBIP-355 Protein

A.Thaliana SBIP-355_SGN S.Tuberosum G.max V.Vinefera G.Hirsutum	MAIR-LPLICLLGSFMVVAIAADLTPERYWSTALPNTPIPNSLHNLLTFD-FTDEK MELKLLHVLTYLSLALVASYA-ALPPASSGQTYWNTKLPNTPIPKAIKDSLQPTGLTEDK MELKFLHILTYLSLALVASHA-ALPVTYWTTKLPNTPMPKAIKESLQPSGLTEDK MVFPLLSIFALLNLAVVATHAETLPPEVYWKSKLPTTPMPKAITDILHPD-LAEDK MEFHLLPILALISLVVAAGHA-ALPTKVYMNSVLPNTPMPKAIRDILRPD-LMEEK -MKVLSPILACLALAVVVSHA-ALSPEQYWSYKLPNTPMPKAVKEILHPE-LMEEK :: : : * * * **. **.**	54 59 54 55 54 53
A.Thaliana SBIP-355_SGN S.Tuberosum G.max V.Vinefera G.Hirsutum	STNVQVGKGGVNVNTHKGKTGSGTAVNVGK-GGVRVDTGKGKPGGGTHVSVGSGKGHGGG STSVEVGKGGVNVNTGKGHSGSGTNVNVGH-KGVGVSTGKGHSGRGANVNVGHKG STSVDVGKGGVNVGVHKGHTSGGTNVNVGG-HK	113 113 88 97 98 94
A.Thaliana SBIP-355_SGN S.Tuberosum G.max V.Vinefera G.Hirsutum	VAVHTGKPGKRTDVGVGKGGVTVHTRHKGRPIYVGVKPGANPFVYNYAAKETQLHD VGVSTGGGTHVGVGKGGVGVTTPGHHGRPPVYVGVRPGPSPFVYNYAAKDDQLHD VNVDTPGGTHVGVGKGGVGVTTPGHHGKPPVSVGVQPGPSPFLYNYAAKDDQLND KGTSVNVGKGGVNVNTGPKKG-KPVHVGVGPHSPFDYNYAASETQWHD GGTTVGVGKGGVSVNAGHK-G-KHVYVGVGKGKSKSPFDYKYAATEDQLHD GGTHVNDPDPFNYLYAASETQIHE * *** * ***.: * .:	169 168 143 144 147 118
A.Thaliana SBIP-355_SGN S.Tuberosum G.max V.Vinefera G.Hirsutum	DPNAAIFFLEKDLVRGKEMNVRFNAEDGYGGKTAFIPRGEAETVFFGSEKFSETLKRFSV NPNVAIFFLEKDLHQGSNMNLQFVKTTKNAATFIPRQVANSIFFSSNKMPEILSQFSV NPNVAIFFLEKDLHQGSNMNLQFVKNANGASFIPREEADSIFFSSEKMPEILNQFSV DPNVAIFFLEKDLHYGTKLNLHFTRYFTSSVDASFIPRSVADSIFFSSNKVNEVLNKFSI DPNVAIFFEKNMQPGTKMELHFIRDANLATFIPRQVANSIFFSSKKFPEILNEFSI DPNVAIFFEKNMQPGTKMELHFIRDTEKSAFIPYQTAPKNTESSDKLPEIFNKFSV :**.****:*:: * :.::* ::*** *. *.*.*:	229 226 200 204 204 175
A.Thaliana SBIP-355_SGN S.Tuberosum G.max V.Vinefera G.Hirsutum	EAGSEEAEMMKKTIEE(EARKVSGEEK)CAT5TESMVDFSVSKLGKYHVRAVSTEVAKKN KPDSEEAQILKQTVQECEEPGIKGEEK;CAT5TESMVDFSTSKLGNKV-QPVSTETEK-E DPDSEEGQIMKQTVQECEEPGIKGEEK;CAT5TESMVDFTTSKLGNKV-QPLSTETQKEN KEGSDEAQTVKNTISECEVPGIKGEEK;CVT5TESMVDFATTKLGSKDVDAVSTEVTKKD KPESEEAETIKNTIRECEEPGIKGEEK;CAT5TESMVDFSTSKLGKGV-QMISTEVE-KE KPGSVKAEMMKNTIKECE2PAIEGEEK;CAT5TESMIDYSISKLGKVD-QAVSTEVE-KQ . * :.: :*:*: *** ::**** *.******	289 284 259 264 262 233
A.Thaliana SBIP-355_SGN S.Tuberosum G.max V.Vinefera G.Hirsutum	APMQKYKIAAAGVKKLSDDKSVVCHKQKYPFAVFYCHKAMMTTVYAVPLEGENGMR TQMQKYTILGAKKMGNGKSDAVVCHKQNYAYAVFYCHKTETTESYMVSLVGADGTK TQMQKYTILGAKKMGNNNNDKSVVCHKQNYAYAVFYCHKTETTESYMVSLVGADGTK NELQQYTMAPG-VKRLGEDKASVVCHKENYPYAVFYCHKSENTKAYSVFLEGADGSR TPEQQYTITIG-VKKLAGDK-AVVCHKQSYPYAVFYCHKSENTKAYSVFLEGADGSK TPMQKYTIAAG-VQKMTDDK-AVVCHKQNYAYAVFYCHKSETTRAYMVPLEGAGGTK *:*::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::	345 340 317 320 317 288
A.Thaliana SBIP-355_SGN S.Tuberosum G.max V.Vinefera G.Hirsutum	AKAVAVCHOTSAWNPNHLAFKVIKVEGTVFVCHFIFETHVWFSY- 392 AKAVAVCHKITSAWNPKHLAFKVIKVTPSSVFVCHFIFEDHIMWVFKN 388 VKAVAVCHKITSQWNPKHLAFKVIKVTPSSVFVCHFIFEDHIMWVFKN 365 VKAVAVCHTITSKWNPKHLAFQVIKVHPGTVFICHFIF2DHVMVVFK- 367 VKAVAVCHTITSAWNPKHLAFQVIKVFGTVFICHFIFEDHVMVVFK- 364 AKALAVCHTITSAWNPKHLAFQTIKVEGTIFICHFIFEDHVMVVFK- 335	

Figure 10: Multiple Amino Acid Sequence Alignments of SGN-U446947 with Similar Proteins Containing BURP domains. (SBIP-355 _SGN= SGN-U446947 ORF, S. Tuberosum= *Solanum tuberosum*, V. Vinefera= *Vitis vinefera*, G. Hirsutum= *Gossypium hirsutum* and A. Thaliana= *Arabidopsis thaliana. Solanum tuberosum* (81% identity), *Vitis vinefera* (61% identity), *Gossypium hirsutum* (60% identity), *Glycine max* (58% identity), and *Arabidopsis thaliana* (55% identity). Black boxes show conserved amino acid residues of BURP domain. Phylogenetic tree



0.1

Figure 11: Phylogenetic Tree of Multiple Proteins of BURP Domain-Containing Protein Family. It was generated using the Neighbor-Joining method. The proteins are BNM2, *Brassica napus*; PG1 beta, *Nicotiana tabacum*; PG1 beta, *Ricinus communis*; PG1beta, *Solanum lycopersicum*; RD22,*Knorringia sibirica*; RD22, *Arabidopsis*; RD22, *Prunus persica*; RD22, *Camellia sinensis*; RD22, *Gossypium arboreum*; UPS, *Pisum sativum* and UPS, *Vicia faba*. SBIP-355 is clustered into the subfamily that contains all the RD22-like proteins

Details:

Matrix:	Eukarya
Truncation:	70 residues
Cleavage position:	21
Score:	0.7285
Secreted protein:	predicted for secretion



Figure 12: Result of Signal Peptide Detection of SBIP-355. The method is based on a position weight matrix approach. Analysis shows the presence of signal peptide in the (first 21 amino acids). In addition, It is predicted that SBIP-355 is a secretory protein

Total RNA Isolation from XNN Tobacco Using TRIzol Method and cDNA Synthesis

The isolated RNA was quantified using NanoDrop ND-1000 UV-Vis Spectrophotometer at 260 nm (Fig.13). The ratio of absorbance at 260 nm and 280 nm is used to assess the purity of RNA from contamination with protein in the sample and the 260/230 ratio is used as a secondary measure of RNA purity from contamination with salts and phenols. For RNA, the ideal 260/280 ratio is between 1.8-2.0 and 260/230 ratio and it should be very close to 2.0 (Imbeaud et al. 2005). The synthesis of cDNA was performed using the isolated RNA by reverse transcription, tested by amplification of the tobacco housekeeping gene *EF1a* using PCR and measured for integrity using 1.2% Agarose gel (Fig.14).



Figure 13: Quantitation of RNA Isolated from Tobacco XNN Leaves using NanoDrop Spectrophotometer. RNA Concentration= 519.0 ng/µL, 260/280 Ratio= 1.93 and 260/230= 1.84



Figure 14: 1.2 % Agarose Gel Stained with EtBr for the Amplification of EF1a

Cloning of SBIP-355 by Gateway Cloning Technology and Expression in E.coli

Amplification of SBIP-355 Using PCR

PCR was performed to amplify SBIP-355 (1167bp) using cDNA from tobacco XNN leaf as template and Platinum Pfx DNA polymerase. Then, the amplification of SBIP-355 was tested for integrity on a 1.2% agarose gel (Fig.15).



Figure 15: 1.2 % Agarose Gel Stained with EtBr for the Amplification of SBIP-355

Purification of PCR Amplified SBIP-355 Using PCR Purification Kit

PCR amplified SBIP-355 was purified using QIAGEN QIAquick PCR purification kit. The concentration of the purified DNA was measured using the NanoDrop ND-100 Spectrophotometer, and then the quality of purified DNA was tested on 1.2% agarose gel (Fig.16).



Figure 16: 1.2 % Agarose Gel Stained with EtBr for the Quality of Purified SBIP-355

Cloning of SBIP-355 into pDONR221 Using BP Recombination Reaction

BP recombination reaction was performed with the purified SBIP-355 and pDONR221 was used to generate an entry clone. After successful transformation, colonies were tested for the presence of insert via colony PCR using M13 forward and reverse primers that flanked the insertion site and also by using M13 forward and SBIP-355 reverse primers. PCR amplified fragments of SBIP-355 from recombinant pDONR221-SBIP-355 plasmids were tested for integrity on a 0.8% agarose gel (Fig.17).



Figure 17: 0.8% Agarose Gel Stained with EtBr for the Confirmation of the Insertion of SBIP-355 into pDONR221 by Colony PCR. Fig A is showing the amplification of SBIP-355 from pDONR221-SBIP-355 clone using M13 F and R primers. Fig B and C are the amplification of SBIP-355 from pDONR221-SBIP-355 clone using M13 F and SBIP-355 R primer. Seven positive clones were sent for sequencing.

Purification of Plasmid DNA (pDONR221-SBIP-355) Using Plasmid Miniprep Kit

Plasmids were isolated from bacterial culture using Invitrogen Pure Link Quick Plasmid Miniprep kit. The concentration of the plasmid DNA was measured by the NanoDrop ND-100 Spectrophotometer and the quality was tested on 0.8% agarose gel (Fig.18).



Figure 18: 0.8% Agarose Gel Stained with EtBr for the Confirmation of the Quality of the Isolated pDONR221-SBIP-355 using Plasmid Miniprep Kit

DNA Sequencing Results

Positive clones were sent for sequencing and aligned with SBIP-355 nucleotide sequence based on SGN-U446947 and with the partial nucleotide sequence of SBIP-355 obtained from yeast 2-hybrid screening (Fig. 19). Furthermore, they were aligned with amino acid sequence by translation of nucleotides sequences into amino acid sequence using ExPASy translation tool (Fig. 20). Based on the analysis, clone no.1 is the most highly homologous clone with SBIP-355 nucleotide sequences (Fig. 21) and amino acid sequence (Fig. 22) among the rest of the sequenced clones and was selected for the protein expression step. Sequencing alignment of clone no.1 sequence with SBIP-355 sequence based on SGN-U446947 shows mismatch in 3 nucleotides; however, clone no.1 alignment with amino acid sequence of SBIP-355 shows a perfect match with SBIP-355 sequence based on SGN-U446947 and 1 amino acid mismatch with amino acids sequence of SBIP-355 obtained from yeast 2-hybrid screening. Further reviews give a conclusion that the nucleotides mutations in the DNA sequence are silent mutation and they code for the same amino acid because DNA alignment doesn't take into account the redundancy of amino acid codons. Other sequenced clones showed high similarities with SBIP-355 and they are proposed to be different isoforms of SBIP-355 because it is evident that *Nicotiana tabacum* is a tetraploid genome structure that consists of 4 sets of chromosomes (Cameron 1952).

1 4 9 16 29 SGN SBIP	ATGGAGTTGAAGCTCCTTCACGTCCTCACTTACCTTTCGTTGGCACTAGTGGCAAGTTAT ATGGAGTTGAAGCTCCTTCACATCCTTACCTACCTTTCTTT	60 60 60 60
1 4 9 16 29 SGN SBIP	GCAGCTCTTCCTCCTGCATCGAGCGGTCAAACTTATTGGAATACTAAGCTGCCTAATACG GCAGCTCTTTCTCCATCGAGCGGTCAAACTTATTGGAATACTAAACTGCCTAATACT GCAGCTCTTTCTCCATCGAGCGGTCAAACTTATTGGAATACTAAACTGCCTAATACT GCAGCTCTTTCTCCATCGAGCGGTCAAACTTATTGGAATACTAAACTGCCTAATACT GCAGCTCTTCCTCCTGCATCGAGCGGTCAAACTTATTGGAATACTAAGCTGCCTAATACG	120 117 117 117 120
1 4 9 16 29 SGN SBIP	CCCATCCCAAAGGCAATCAAAGATTCTCTGCAGCCAACTGGATTGACGGAG CCCATGCCAAAGGCAATCAAAGATTCTCTTCAGCCAACTGATTTCGCAGGATTGACGGAG CCCATGCCAAAGGCAATCAAAGATTCTCTTCAGCCAACTGGATTGACGGAG CCCATGCCAAAGGCAATCAAAGATTCTCTTCAGCCAACTGGATTGATGGAG 	171 177 168 168 171
1 4 9 16 29 SGN SBIP	GACAAAAGCACTTCAGTGGAAGTAGGCAAAGGCGGAGTAAACGTCAACACCGGCAAGGGG GACAAAACCACTTCAGTGGTAGTAGGCAAAGGCGGAGTAAACGTCAACACCGGCAAAGGG GACAAAACCACTTCAGTGGTAGTAGGCAAAAGGCGGAGTAAACGTCAACACCGGCAAAGGG GACAAAACCACTTCAGTGGTAGTAGGCAAAGGCGGAGTAAACGTCAACACCGGCAAAGGG GACAAAAGCACTTCAGTGGAAGTAGGCAAAGGCGGAGTAAACGTCAACACCGGCAAGGGG	231 237 228 228 231

1 4 9	CACTCCGGCAGCGGCACTAACGTCAACGTTGGCCACAAAGGTGTCGGCGTAAGCACTGGC 29 CACTCCGGCAGCGGCACTAACGTCAACGTTGGCCGCAAAGGCGTCGGCGTAAGCACCGGC 29 CACTCCGGCAGCG24	91 97 41
16	CACTCCGGCAGCGGCACTAACGTCAACGTTGGCCACAAAGGCGTCGGCGTAAGCACCGGC 28	88
SGN SBIP	CACTCCGGCAGCGGCACTAACGTCAACGTTGGCCACAAAGGTGTCGGCGTAAGCACTGGC 29	91
1	AAGGGTCACTCCGGCAGGGGAGCCAACGTCAACGTCGGCCACAAAGGCGTGGGCGTA 34	48
4	AAGGGTCACTCCGGCAGGGGGGGGCACCAACGTCAACGTCGGCCACAAAGGCGTCGGCGTA 3	57
9 16 29	GCACTAACGTCAACGTTGGCCACAAAGGCGTCGGCGTA 2 AAGGGTCACTCCGAGCCAACGTCAACGTCGGCCACAAAGGCGTGGGCGTA 33	79 38
29 SGN	AAGGGTCACTCCGGCAGGGGAGCCAACGTCAACGTCGGCCACAAAGGCGTGGGCCGTA 34	48
SBIP	GAGCCAACGTCAACGTCGGCCACAAAGGCGTGGGCGTA 3	8
1	AGCACCGGGGGCGGAACCCACGTTGGCGTCGGCAAAGGAGGA 3	90
4	AGCACCGGGGGCGGAACCCACGTCGGCGTCGGCAAAGGAGGA 3	99
9	AGCACCGGCAAGGGTCACTCCGGCAGGGGGGGCACCAACGTCAACGTCGGCCACAAAGGC 33	39
16 29		80
SGN	AGCACCGGGGGCGGAACCCACGTTGGCGTCGGCAAAGGAGGA 3	90
SBIP	AGCACCGGGGGCGGAACCCACGTTGGCGTCGGCAAAGGAGGA 80	0
1 4	GTCGGCGTGACCACTCCCGGCCACCACGGAAGGCCGCCGGTGTACGTCGGTGTACGTCCC 45 GTGGGCGTGACCACCCCCGGCCACCACGGAAGGCCGCCGGTCTACGTCGGTGTACGCCCC 45	50 59
9	GTCGGCGTAAGCACCGGGGGGAAGGCCGCCGGTCTACGTCGGTGTACGCCCC 3	90
16	GTGGGCGTGACCACCCCCGGCCACCACGGAAGGCCGCCGGTCTACGTCGGTGTACGCCCC 44	40
SGN	GTCGGCGTGACCACTCCCGGCCACCACGGAAGGCCGCCGGTGTACGTCGGTGTACGTCCC 45	50
SBIP	GTCGGCGTGACCACTCCCGGCCACCACGGAAGGCCGCCGGTGTACGTCGGTGTACGTCCC 14	40
1	GGACCGTCACCTTTTGTTTACAATTACGCCGCCAAAGATGATCAACTTCACGACAACCCA 52	10
4	GGACCATCACCGTTTGTTTACAATTACGCCGCCAAAGATGATCAACTTCACGACAACCCA 51	19
9	GGACCATCACCGTTTGTTTACAATTACGCCGCCAAAGATGATCAACTTCACGACAACCCCA 45	50
29	GGACCATCACCGITIGITIACAATTACGCCGCCAAAGATGATCAACTTCACGACAACCCA 30	3
SGN	GGACCGTCACCTTTTGTTTACAATTACGCCGCCAAAGATGATCAACTTCACGACAACCCA 51	10
SBIP	GGACCGTCACCTTTTGTTTACAATTACGCCGCCAAAGATGATCAACTTCACGACAACCCA 2(00
1	AACGTCGCTCTTTTTTTCCTTGAGAAAGACTTGCACCAAGGTAGTAACATGAACTTGCAG 5	70
4	AACGTCGCTCTTTTTTTCCTCGAGAAGGACTTGCACCAAGGGAGTAACATGAACTTACAA 5	79
9	AACGTCGCTCTTTTTTTCCTCGAGAAGGACTTGCACCAAGGGAGTAACATGAACTTACAA 51	10
16		60 2
29 SGN		3 70
SBIP	AACGTCGCTCTTTTTTTCCTTGAGGAAGACTTGCACCAAGGTAGTAACATGAACTTGCAG 2	60

1	TTTGTGAAAACTACAAAAAATGCCGCCACTTTCTTGCCTCGCCAAGTAGCAAATTCTATT 63	30
4	TTTGTGAAAACTACAAATACTGCCGCCACTTTCTTGCCTCGCCAAGTCGCAAATTCTATT 63	39
9	TTTGTGAAAACTACAAATACTGCCGCCACTTTCTTGCCTCGCCAAGTCGCAAATTCTATT 5	70
16	TTTGTGAAAACTACAAATACTGCCGCCACTTTCTTGCCTCGCCAAGTCGCAAATTCTATT 62	20
29	TTTTGTGAAAACTACAAATACTGCCGCCACTTTCTTGCCTCGCCAAGTCGCAAATTCTATT 14	43
SGN	TTTGTGAAAACTACAAAAAATGCCGCCACTTTCTTGCCTCGCCAAGTAGCAAATTCTATT 60	3U 20
SDIF		∠U

1 4	CCCTTTTCGTCAAACAAGATGCCAGAAATTCTTAGCCAGTTTTCAGTTAAGCCCGACTCT CCCTTTTCGTCAAACAAGATGCCAGAAATTCTTAATCAGTTTTCAGTTAAACCCGACTCT	690 699
9	CCCTTTTCGTCAAACAAGATGCCAGAAATTCTTAATCAGTTTTCAGTTAAACCCGACTCT	630
16	CCCTTTTCGTCAAACAAGATGCCAGAAATTC	651
29	CCCTTTTCGTCAAACAAGATGCCAGAAATTCTTAATCAGTTTTCAGTTAAACCCGACTCT	203
SGN	CCCTTTTCGTCAAACAAGATGCCAGAAATTCTTAGCCAGTTTTCAGTTAAGCCCGACTCT	690
SBIP	CCCTTTTCGTCAAACAAGATGCCAGAAATTCTTAGCCAGTTTTCAGTTAAGCCCGACTCT ****************************	380
1	GAAGAAGCTCAGATCTTGAAGCAAACTGTCCAAGAATGTGAAGAGCCAGGTATTAAAGGA	750
4		159
9 1.c		690
20		263
SCN		205
CDID		110
SDIF	**************************************	440
1	GAAGAGAAGTACTGTGCTACTTCATTAGAATCCATGGTTGATTTCAGCACATCAAAGTTA	810
4	GAAGAGAAGTATTGTGCTACTTCATTAGAATCCATGGTTGATTTCAGCACATCAAAGTTA	819
9	GAAGAGAAGTATTGTGCTACTTCATTAGAATCCATGGTTGATTTCAGCACATCAAAGTTA	750
16	GAAGAGAAGTATTGTGCTACTTCATTAGAATCCATGGTTGATTTCAGCACATCAAAGTTA	740
29	GAAGAGAAGTATTGTGCTACTTCATTAGAATCCATGGTTGATTTCAGCACATCAAAGTTA	323
SGN	GAAGAGAAGTACTGTGCTACTTCATTAGAATCCATGGTTGATTTCAGCACATCAAAGTTA	810
SBIP	GAAGAAGAAGTACTGTGCTACTTCATTAGAATCCATGGTTGATTTCAGCACATCAAAGTTA	500
	********** ****************************	
1	GGAAACAAAGTACAACCAGTATCAACAGAGACAGAGAAGGAAACACAAATGCAGAAATAC	870
4	GGAAACAAAGTGCAACCAGTGTCAACAGAGACAGAGAAGGAAACTCAAATGCAGAAATAC	879
9	GGAAACAAAGTGCAACCAGTGTCAACAGAGACAGAGAAGGGAAACTCAAATGCAGAAATAC	810
16	GGAAACAAAGTGCAACCAGTGTCAACAGAGACAGAGAAAGGAAACTCAAATGCAGAAATAC	800
29	GGAAACAAAGTGCAACCAGTGTCAACAGAGACAGAGAAGGAAACTCAAATGCAGAAATAC	383
SGN	GGAAACAAAGTACAACCAGTATCAACAGAGACAGAGAAGGAAACACAAATGCAGAAATAC	870
SBIP	GGAAACAAAGTACAACCAGTATCAACAGAGAACAGGAGAAGGAAACACAAATGCAGAAATAC ********** **************************	560
1	ACAATTCTAGGAGCCAAGAAAATGGGAAATGGGAAATCTGATGCTGTAGTTTGCCACAAG	930
4	ACAATTCTAGGAGCCAAGAAAATGGGAAATGGGAAATCTGATGCTGTAGTTTGCCACAAG	939
9	ACAATTCTAGGAGCCAAGAAAATAGGAAATGGGAAATCTGATGCTGTAGTTTGCCACAAG	870
16	ACAATTCTAGGAGCCAAGAAAATAGGAAA	829
29	ACAATTCTAGGAGCCAAGAAAATAGGAAATGGGAAATCTGATGCTGTAGTTTGCCACAAG	443
SGN	ACAATTCTAGGAGCCAAGAAAATGGGAAATGGGAAATCTGATGCTGTAGTTTGCCACAAG	930
SBIP	ACAATTCTAGGAGCCAAGAAAATGGGAAATGGGAAATCTGATGCTGTAGTTTGCCACAAG	620

1	CAGAATTATGCATATGCAGTTTTCTACTGTCATAAAACAGAAACAACGGAGTCATACATG	990
4	CAGAATTATGCATATGCAGTTTTCTACTGTCATAAAACAGAAACAACGGAGTCATACATG	999
9	CAGAATTATGCATATGCAGTTTTCTACTGTCATAAAACAGAAACAACGGAGTCATACATG	930
16	CATAAAACAGAAACCACAGAGTCATACATG	859
29	CAGAATTATGCATATGCAGTTTTCTACTGTCATAAAACAGAAACCACAGAGTCATACATG	503
SGN	CAGAATTATGCATATGCAGTTTTCTACTGTCATAAAACAGAAACAACGGAGTCATACATG	990
SBIP	CAGAATTATGCATATGCAGTTTTCTACTGTCATAAAACAGAAACAACGGAGTCATACATG ************************************	680
1	GTTTCTTTGGTTGGTGCTGATGGAACAAAGGCTAAAGCAGTAGCTGTTTGCCATAAGGAT	1050
4	GTTTCTTTGGTTGGTGCTGATGGAACAAAGGCTAAAGCAGTAGCTGTTTGCCATAAGGAT	1059
9	GTTTCTTTGGTTGGTGCTGATGGAACAAAGGCTAAAGCAGTAGCTGTTTGCCATAAGGAT	990
16	GTTTCTTTGGTTGGTGCTGATGGAACAAAG	889
29	GTTTCTTTGGTTGGTGCTGATGGAACAAAGGCTAAAGCAGTAGCTGTTTGCCATAAGAAT	563
SGN	GTTTCTTTGGTTGGTGCTGATGGAACAAAGGCTAAAGCAGTAGCTGTTTGCCATAAGGAT	1050
SBIP	GTTTCTTTGGTTGGTGCTGATGGAACAAAGGCTAAAGCAGTAGCTGTTTGCCATAAGGAT	740

1	ACTTCAGCTTGGAATCCAAAACATTTGGCTTTTAAAGTTCTTAAGGTTACACCTGGATCT	1110
4	ACTTCAGCTTGGAATCCAAAGCATTTGGCTTTTAAAGTTCTTAAGGTTACACCGGGATCT	1119
9	ACTTCAGCTTGGAATCCAAAACATTTGGCTTTTAAAGTTCTTAAGGTTACACCTGGATCT	1050
16	TTTAAAGTTCTTAAGGTTACACCGGGATCT	919
29	ACTTCAGCTTGGAATCCAAAGCATTTGGCTTTTAAAGTTCTTAAGGTTACACCGGGATCT	623
SGN	ACTTCAGCTTGGAATCCAAAACATTTGGCTTTTAAAGTTCTTAAGGTTACACCTGGATCT	1110
SBIP	ACTTCAGCTTGGAATCCAAAACATTTGGCTTTTAAAGTTCTTAAGGTTACACCTGGATCT	800

1	GTTCCTGTTTGCCATTTCCTTCCTGAGGATCACATTGTTTGGGTTCCTAAGAACTAG 116	7
4	GTTCCTGTTTGCCATTTCCTTCCTGAGGATCACATTGTTTGGGTTCCTAAGAACTAG 117	6
9	GTTCCTGTTTGCCATTTCCTTCCTGAGGATCACATTGTTTGGGTTCCTAAGAACTAG 110	7
16	GTTCCTGTTTGCCATTTCCTTCCTGAGGATCACATTGTTTGGGTTCCTAAGAACTAG 976	
29	GTTCCTGTTTGCCATTTCCTTCCTGAGGATCACATTGTTTGGGTTCCTAAGAACTAG 680	
SGN	GTTCCTGTTTGCCATTTCCTTCCTGAGGATCACATTGTTTGGGTTCCTAAGAACTAG 116	7
SBIP	GTTCCTGTTTGCCATTGCCTTCCTGAGGATCACATTGTTTGGGTTCCTAAGAACTAG 857	
	* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * *	

Figure 19: Nucleotide Sequence Alignment of the Sequenced Clones (1,4,9,16, and 29) (Recombinant pDONR221-SBIP-355) with SBIP-355 Nucleotide sequence. The alignment is based on SGN-U446947 (SGN) and the partial nucleotide sequence of SBIP-355 obtained from yeast 2-hybrid screening (SBIP).

1 4 9 16	MELKLLHVLTYLSLALVASYAALPPASSGQTYWNTKLPNTPIPKAIKDSLQPTGLTE MELKLLHILTYLSLALVASYAALS-PSSGQTYWNTKLPNTPMPKAIKDSLQPTDFAGLTE MELKLLHILTYLSLALVASYAALS-PSSGQTYWNTKLPNTPMPKAIKDSLQPTGLTE	57 59 56
SGN 29 SBIP	MELKLLHVLTYLSLALVASYAALPPASSGQTYWNTKLPNTPIPKAIKDSLQPTGLTE	57
1 4 9 16 29	DKSTSVEVGKGGVNVNTGKGHSGSGTNVNVGHKGVGVSTGKGHSGRG-ANVNVGHKGVGV DKTTSVVVGKGGVNVNTGKGHSGSGTNVNVGRKGVGVSTGKGHSGRGGTNVNVGHKGVGV DKTTSVVVGKGGVNVNTGKGHSGSGTNVNVGHKGVGV	116 119 93
SGN SBIP	DKSTSVEVGKGGVNVNTGKGHSGSGTNVNVGHKGVGVSTGKGHSGRG-ANVNVGHKGVGV	116 12
1 4 9 16 29	STGGGTHVGVGKGGVGVTTPGHHGRPPVYVGVRPGPSPFVYNYAAKDDQLHDNP STGGGTHVGVGKGGVGVTTPGHHGRPPVYVGVRPGPSPFVYNYAAKDDQLHDNP STGKGHSGRGGTNVNVGHKGVGVSTGGRPPVYVGVRPGPSPFVYNYAAKDDQLHDNP	170 173 150
SGN SBIP	STGGGTHVGVGKGGVGVTTPGHHGRPPVYVGVRPGPSPFVYNYAAKDDQLHDNP STGGGTHVGVGKGGVGVTTPGHHGRPPVYVGVRPGPSPFVYNYAAKDDQLHDNP	170 66

1 4 9 16 29 SGN SBIP	NVALFFLEKDLHQGSNMNLQFVKTTKNAATFLPRQVANSIPFSSNKMPEILSQFSVKPDS NVALFFLEKDLHQGSNMNLQFVKTTNTAATFLPRQVANSIPFSSNKMPEILNQFSVKPDS NVALFFLEKDLHQGSNMNLQFVKTTNTAATFLPRQVANSIPFSSNKMPEILNQFSVKPDS MELKLLHILTYLSLALVASYAALSPSSGQTYWNTKLPNT MNLQFVKTTNTAATFLPRQVANSIPFSSNKMPEILNQFSVKPDS NVALFFLEKDLHQGSNMNLQFVKTTKNAATFLPRQVANSIPFSSNKMPEILSQFSVKPDS NVALFFLEEDLHQGSNMNLQFVKTTKNAATFLPRQVANSIPFSSNKMPEILSQFSVKPDS *:*:::: :	230 233 210 39 44 230 126
1	EEAOILKOTVOECEEPGIKGEEKYCATSLESMVDFSTSKLGNKVOPVSTETEKETOMOKY	290
4	EEAOILKOTVOECEOPGIKGEEKYCATSLESMVDFSTSKLGNKVOPVSTETEKETOMOKY	293
9	EEAQILKQTVQECEQPGIKGEEKYCATSLESMVDFSTSKLGNKVQPVSTETEKETQMQKY	270
16	PMPKAIKDSLQPTGLMEDKTTSVVVGKGG-VNVNTGKG	76
29	EEAQILKQTVQECEQPGIKGEEKYCATSLESMVDFSTSKLGNKVQPVSTETEKETQMQKY	104
SGN	EEAQILKQTVQECEEPGIKGEEKYCATSLESMVDFSTSKLGNKVQPVSTETEKETQMQKY	290
SBIP	EEAQILKQTVQECEEPGIKGEEKYCATSLESMVDFSTSKLGNKVQPVSTETEKETQMQKY	186
1	TILGAKKMGNGKSDAVVCHKQNYAYAVFYCHKTETTESYMVSLVGADGTKAKAVAVCHKD	350
4	TILGAKKMGNGKSDAVVCHKQNYAYAVFYCHKTETTESYMVSLVGADGTKAKAVAVCHKD	353
9	TILGAKKIGNGKSDAVVCHKQNYAYAVFYCHKTETTESYMVSLVGADGTKAKAVAVCHKD	330
16	HSGSG-TNVNVGHKGVGVSTGKGHSEPTSTSA	107
29	TILGAKKIGNGKSDAVVCHKQNYAYAVFYCHKTETTESYMVSLVGADGTKAKAVAVCHKN	164
SGN	TILGAKKMGNGKSDAVVCHKQNYAYAVFYCHKTETTESYMVSLVGADGTKAKAVAVCHKD	350
SBIP	TILGAKKMGNGKSDAVVCHKQNYAYAVFYCHKTETTESYMVSLVGADGTKAKAVAVCHKD : *.* : *.* : *.* : *.*	246
1	TSAWNPKHLAFKVLKVTPGSVPVCHFLPEDHIVWVPKN 388	
4	TSAWNPKHLAFKVLKVTPGSVPVCHFLPEDHIVWVPKN 391	
9	TSAWNPKHLAFKVLKVTPGSVPVCHFLPEDHIVWVPKN 368	
16	TKAWA 112	
29	TSAWNPKHLAFKVLKVTPGSVPVCHFLPEDHIVWVPKN 202	
SGN	TSAWNPKHLAFKVLKVTPGSVPVCHFLPEDHIVWVPKN 388	
SBIP	TSAWNPKHLAFKVLKVTPGSVPVCHCLPEDHIVWVPKN 284 * **	

Figure 20: Amino Acid Sequence Alignment of the Sequenced Clones (1,4,9,16, and 29) (Recombinant pDONR221-SBIP-355) with SBIP-355 Amino Acid Sequence. The alignment is based on SGN-U446947 (SGN) and the partial amino acid sequence of SBIP-355 obtained from yeast 2-hybrid screening (SBIP).

1 SGN SBIP	ATGGAGTTGAAGCTCCTTCACGTCCTCACTTACCTTTCGTTGGCACTAGTGGCAAGTTAT ATGGAGTTGAAGCTCCTTCACGTCCTCACTTACCTTTCGTTGGCACTAGTGGCAAGTTAT	60 60
1 SGN SBIP	GCAGCTCTTCCTCCTGCATCGAGCGGTCAAACTTATTGGAATACTAAGCTGCCTAATACG GCAGCTCTTCCTCCTGCATCGAGCGGTCAAACTTATTGGAATACTAAGCTGCCTAATACG	120 120
1 SGN SBIP	CCCATCCCAAAGGCAATCAAAGATTCTCTGCAGCCAACTGGATTGACGGAGGACAAAAGC CCCATCCCAAAGGCAATCAAAGATTCTCTGCAGCCAACTGGATTGACGGAGGACAAAAGC	180 180
1 SGN SBIP	ACTTCAGTGGAAGTAGGCAAAAGGCGGAGTAAACGTCAACACCGGCAAGGGGCACTCCGGC ACTTCAGTGGAAGTAGGCAAAGGCGGAGTAAACGTCAACACCGGCAAGGGGCACTCCGGC	240 240
1 SGN SBIP	AGCGGCACTAACGTCAACGTTGGCCACAAAGGTGTCGGCGTAAGCACTGGCAAGGGTCAC AGCGGCACTAACGTCAACGTTGGCCACAAAGGTGTCGGCGTAAGCACTGGCAAGGGTCAC	300 300
1 SGN SBIP	TCCGGCAGGGGAGCCAACGTCAACGTCGGCCACAAAGGCGTGGGCGTAAGCACCGGGGGC TCCGGCAGGGGAGCCAACGTCAACGTCGGCCACAAAGGCGTGGGCGTAAGCACCGGGGGC GAGCCAACGTCAACGTCGGCCACAAAGGCGTGGGCGTAAGCACCGGGGGC **************************	360 360 50
1 SGN SBIP	GGAACCCACGTTGGCGTCGGCAAAGGAGGAGTCGGCGTGACCACTCCCGGCCACCACGGA GGAACCCACGTTGGCGTCGGCAAAGGAGGAGTCGGCGTGACCACTCCCGGCCACCACGGA GGAACCCACGTTGGCGTCGGCAAAGGAGGAGTCGGCGTGACCACTCCCGGCCACCACGGA *********	420 420 110
1 SGN SBIP	AGGCCGCCGGTGTACGTCGGTGTACGTCCCGGACCGTCACCTTTTGTTTACAATTACGCC AGGCCGCCGGTGTACGTCGGTGTACGTCCCGGACCGTCACCTTTTGTTTACAATTACGCC AGGCCGCCGGTGTACGTCGGTGTACGTCCCGGACCGTCACCTTTTGTTTACAATTACGCC ***********	480 480 170
1 SGN SBIP	GCCAAAGATGATCAACTTCACGACAACCCAAACGTCGCTCTTTTTTTCCTTGAG <mark>A</mark> AAGAC GCCAAAGATGATCAACTTCACGACAACCCAAACGTCGCTCTTTTTTTCCTTGAG <mark>A</mark> AAGAC GCCAAAGATGATCAACTTCACGACAACCCAAACGTCGCTCTTTTTTTCCTTGAG <mark>G</mark> AAGAC ***********	540 540 230
1 SGN SBIP	TTGCACCAAGGTAGTAACATGAACTTGCAGTTTGTGAAAAACTACAAAAAATGCCGCCACT TTGCACCAAGGTAGTAACATGAACTTGCAGTTTGTGAAAACTACAAAAAATGCCGCCACT TTGCACCAAGGTAGTAACATGAACTTGCAGTTTGTGAAAACTACAAAAAATGCCGCCACT ***********	600 600 290
1 SGN SBIP	TTC <mark>T</mark> TGCCTCGCCAAGTAGCAAATTCTATTCCCTTTTCGTCAAACAAGATGCCAGAAATT TTC <mark>T</mark> TGCCTCGCCAAGTAGCAAATTCTATTCCCTTTTCGTCAAACAAGATGCCAGAAATT TTC <mark>C</mark> TGCCTCGCCAAGTAGCAAATTCTATTCCCTTTTCGTCAAACAAGATGCCAGAAATT *** *******	660 660 350
1 SGN SBIP	CTTAGCCAGTTTTCAGTTAAGCCCGACTCTGAAGAAGCTCAGATCTTGAAGCAAACTGTC CTTAGCCAGTTTTCAGTTAAGCCCGACTCTGAAGAAGCTCAGATCTTGAAGCAAACTGTC CTTAGCCAGTTTTCAGTTAAGCCCGACTCTGAAGAAGCTCAGATCTTGAAGCAAACTGTC ************	720 720 410
1 SGN SBIP	CAAGAATGTGAAGAGCCAGGTATTAAAGGAGAAGAGAAG	780 780 470

1 SGN SBIP	TCCATGGTTGATTTCAGCACATCAAAGTTAGGAAACAAAGTACAACCAGTATCAACAGAG TCCATGGTTGATTTCAGCACATCAAAGTTAGGAAACAAAGTACAACCAGTATCAACAGAG TCCATGGTTGATTTCAGCACATCAAAGTTAGGAAACAAAGTACAACCAGTATCAACAGAG	840 840 530
1	ACAGAGAAGGAAACACAAATGCAGAAATACACAATTCTAGGAGCCAAGAAAATGGGAAAT	900
SGN SBIP	ACAGAGAAGGAAACACAAATGCAGAAATACACAATTCTAGGAGCCAAGAAAATGGGAAAT ACAGAGAAGGAAACACAAATGCAGAAATACACAATTCTAGGAGCCAAGAAAATGGGAAAT ************************	900 590
1 SGN	GGGAAATCTGATGCTGTAGTTTGCCACAAGCAGAATTATGCATATGCAGTTTTCTACTGT GGGAAATCTGATGCTGTAGTTTGCCACAAGCAGAATTATGCATATGCAGTTTTCTACTGT	960 960
SBIP	GGGAAATCTGATGCTGTAGTTTGCCACAAGCAGAATTATGCATATGCAGTTTTCTACTGT ***********************************	650
1 SCN	CATAAAACAGAAACAACGGAGTCATACATGGTTTCTTTGGTTGG	1020
SBIP	CATAAAACAGAAACAACGGAGTCATACATGGTTTCTTTGGTTGG	710
1	GCTAAAGCAGTAGCTGTTTGCCATAAGGATACTTCAGCTTGGAATCCAAAACATTTGGCT	1080
SBIP	GCTAAAGCAGTAGCTGTTTGCCATAAGGATACTTCAGCTTGGAATCCAAAACATTTGGCT GCTAAAGCAGTAGCTGTTTGCCATAAGGATACTTCAGCTTGGAATCCAAAACATTTGGCT ********************************	770
1	TTTAAAGTTCTTAAGGTTACACCTGGATCTGTTCCTGTTTGCCATT <mark>T</mark> CCTTCCTGAGGAT	1140
SGN SBIP	TTTAAAGTTCTTAAGGTTACACCTGGATCTGTTCCTGTTTGCCATT <mark>T</mark> CCTTCCTGAGGAT TTTAAAGTTCTTAAGGTTACACCTGGATCTGTTCCTGTTTGCCATT <mark>G</mark> CCTTCCTGAGGAT ********************************	1140 830
1	CACATTGTTTGGGTTCCTAAGAACTAG 1167	
SGN SBIP	CACATTGTTTGGGTTCCTAAGAACTAG 1167 CACATTGTTTGGGTTCCTAAGAACTAG 857	
	* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * *	

Figure 21: Nucleotide Sequence Alignment of Clone #1 the Highest Homologue with SBIP-355 Nucleotide Sequence. The alignment is based on SGN-U446947 (SGN) and the partial nucleotide sequence of SBIP-355 obtained from yeast 2-hybrid screening (SBIP).

1	MELKLLHVLTYLSLALVASYAALPPASSGQTYWNTKLPNTPIPKAIKDSLQPTGLTEDKS (60
SGN	MELKLLHVLTYLSLALVASYAALPPASSGQTYWNTKLPNTPIPKAIKDSLQPTGLTEDKS	60
SBIP		
1	TS <mark>VEV</mark> GKGGVNVNTGKGHSGSGTNVNVGHKGVGVSTGKGHSGRG <mark>A</mark> NVNVGHKGVGVSTGG	120
SGN	TSVEVGKGGVNVNTGKGHSGSGTNVNVGHKGVGVSTGKGHSGRGANVNVGHKGVGVSTGG	120
SBIP	ANVNVGHKGVGVSTGG	16
	* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * *	

1 SGN SBIP	GTHVGVGKGGVGVTTPGHHGRPPVYVGVRPGPSPFVYNYAAKDDQLHDNPNVALFFLEKD GTHVGVGKGGVGVTTPGHHGRPPVYVGVRPGPSPFVYNYAAKDDQLHDNPNVALFFLEKD GTHVGVGKGGVGVTTPGHHGRPPVYVGVRPGPSPFVYNYAAKDDQLHDNPNVALFFLEED ***********************************	180 180 76
1 SGN SBIP	LHQGSNMNLQFVKTTKNAATFLPRQVANSIPFSSNKMPEILSQFSVKPDSEEAQILKQTV LHQGSNMNLQFVKTTKNAATFLPRQVANSIPFSSNKMPEILSQFSVKPDSEEAQILKQTV LHQGSNMNLQFVKTTKNAATFLPRQVANSIPFSSNKMPEILSQFSVKPDSEEAQILKQTV ************************************	240 240 136
1 SGN SBIP	QECEEPGIKGEEKYCATSLESMVDFSTSKLGNKVQPVSTETEKETQMQKYTILGAKKMGN QECEEPGIKGEEKYCATSLESMVDFSTSKLGNKVQPVSTETEKETQMQKYTILGAKKMGN QECEEPGIKGEEKYCATSLESMVDFSTSKLGNKVQPVSTETEKETQMQKYTILGAKKMGN ******	300 300 196
1 SGN SBIP	GKSDAVVCHKQNYAYAVFYCHKTETTESYMVSLVGADGTKAKAVAVCHKDTSAWNPKHLA GKSDAVVCHKQNYAYAVFYCHKTETTESYMVSLVGADGTKAKAVAVCHKDTSAWNPKHLA GKSDAVVCHKQNYAYAVFYCHKTETTESYMVSLVGADGTKAKAVAVCHKDTSAWNPKHLA *****	360 360 256
1 SGN SBIP	FKVLKVTPGSVPVCHFLPEDHIVWVPKN388FKVLKVTPGSVPVCHFLPEDHIVWVPKN388FKVLKVTPGSVPVCHCLPEDHIVWVPKN284***********************************	

Figure 22: Amino Acid Sequence Alignment of Clone #1 the Highest Homologue with SBIP-355 Amino Acid Sequence. The alignments arebased on SGN-U446947 (SGN) and the partial amino acid sequence of SBIP-355 obtained from yeast 2-hybrid screening

Subconing of Recombinant pDONR221-SBIP-355 into pDEST17 Expression Vector Using LR Recombination Reaction

LR recombination reaction was performed with the Recombinant pDONR221-SBIP-355 and Gateway destination vector pDEST17 for protein expression in *E.coli*. Colony PCR was carried out by using SBIP-355 forward and reverse primers to confirm successful insertion of SBIP-355 into pDEST17 (Fig.23). Plasmid was isolated from bacterial culture using Invitrogen Pure Link Quick Plasmid Miniprep kit, measured by the NanoDrop Spectrophotometer to quantify the concentration and tested for the quality on 0.8% agarose gel (Fig.24).



Figure 23: 0.8% Agarose Gel Stained with EtBr for the Confirmation of the Insertion of SBIP-355 into pDEST17.



Figure 24: 0.8% Agarose gel Stained with EtBr for the Confirmation of the Quality of the Isolated pDEST17-SBIP-355 using Plasmid Miniprep Kit.

Small Scale Expression of Recombinant SBIP-355 Protein in E.coli

To confirm the expression of recombinant SBIP-355 protein, a small scale expression screening test was performed by using *E.coli* BL21 (DE3) Magic cells carrying pDEST17-SBIP-355. The expression was tested using a sample of bacterial culture induced with 1mM IPTG and uninduced sample as a control. It was analyzed on a 12 % SDS PAGE gel; stained with Coomassie blue to visualize the bands of proteins (Fig. 25.A). Following this, the gel was transferred to confirm the expression using western blot analysis to detect SBIP-355. Result from this analysis shows that a protein with MW ~41 kDa is present (Fig. 25.C).



Figure 25: Expression of SBIP-355. (A) SDS-PAGE analysis of pDEST17-SBIP-355 Recombinant Protein Expression in *E. coli*. LMW: low molecular weight protein marker; Uninduced lane shows SBIP-355 protein expression without IPTG induction; Induced lane shows SBIP-355 protein expression with 1 mM IPTG induction. The red arrows are indicating the expected size of SBIP-355 (~41kDa). (B) Corresponding PVDE membrane restained with coomassie blue following immunoblotting. (C) Western blot analysis using anti-His antibodies. Blot was developed using Western Sure reagent from Licor and scanned using digital C-DiGit scanner.

CHAPTER 4

DISCUSSION

The members of plant specific BURP domain protein family are growing rapidly and over 270 deduced proteins from different species of plants have been submitted to the GenBank database to date (Peng et al. 2011). Their functions are still unknown; however, it is suggested that they are involved in cellular secretion pathway during embryogenesis, seed, fruit, and root development (Peng et al. 2011).

SBIP-355 from *Nicotiana tabacum* is a novel gene encoding a BURP domain-containing protein. In this study it was successfully isolated and cloned using Gateway cloning system, and then, SBIP-355 protein was expressed in *E.coli*. The sequence analysis shows that the SBIP-355 gene is 1399 bp in length and 1167 bp of ORF. BLAST search demonstrates that SBIP-355 shares high amino acid sequence identity to other BURP domain containing proteins. The coding sequence of SBIP-355 encodes a 388 amino acid polypeptide with a calculated molecular mass of ~41 kDa. Signal peptide prediction shows that SBIP-355 protein is a secreted protein. It also shows it has a signal peptide, the first 21 amino acids region. The BURP domain of SBIP-355 protein consisted of around 230 amino acids and has typical characteristics, such as 2 phenylalanines (FF) and four cysteine-histidine (CH) motifs (Figure.11) (Peng et al. 2011).

To investigate the evolutionary relationships of SBIP-355, a phylogenetic tree was generated from the amino acid sequences of BURP domain-containing proteins from various plant species. Phylogenetic analysis reveals that SBIP-355 clustered into the clade with several RD22-like proteins. Some of the RD22-like proteins from different plants have been isolated and studied. It was found that they are stress-responsive. *RD22* from *Arabidopsis*, 4 genes from

66

Bruguiera gymnorrhiza (*BgBDC1*, 2, 3, and 4), *PpRD22* from *Prunus persica* and *GhRDL* from *Gossypium hirsutum* were expressed under water deficit conditions and abscisic acid treatment (ABA) (Callahan et al. 1993; Li et al. 2002; Banzai et al. 2011). Thus, SBIP-355 might be a stress-inducible gene and encode a dehydration-responsive protein, which is important for the stress tolerance in tobacco.

As mentioned previously, plant growth is severely affected by harsh environmental conditions. Many stress-responsive genes from different protein families have been analyzed and used in genetic engineering to support plants against the stress tolerances. BURP domaincontaining proteins have shown great possibility in the uses for stress-resistant transgenic crops. Thus, the isolation and analysis of SBIP-355 is relevant and would provide a base for further studies to investigate its role and functions and how to better use that in agriculture.

Future Directions

To achieve to the goal of this research and determine if SABP2 has an effect in the expression of SBIP-355, investigations are required to reach a conclusion about the interaction between SABP2 and SBIP-355. Future experiments should be performed using (1-2) plants in which SABP2 gene expression is silenced by RNA interference, and also by using (C3) plants from plant lines containing empty silencing vector (pHANNIBAL) and *Nicotiana tabacum* cv. *Xanthi nc* (Kumar and Klessig 2003); inoculated with various concentration of NaCl and then collection of leaves samples within different set of times to measure the expression levels of SBIP-355 and SABP2. In addition, the physical interaction between SBIP-355 and SABP2 and SBIP-355.

REFERENCES

- Abe H, Yamaguchi-Shinozaki K, Urao T, Iwasaki T, Hosokawa D, Shinozaki K. 1997. Role of *Arabidopsis* MYC and MYB homologs in drought-and abscisic acid-regulated gene expression. Plant Cell 9(10): 1859-1868.
- Altschul SF, Gish W, Miller W, Myers EW, Lipman DJ. 1990. Basic local alignment search tool.J. Mol. Biol 215: 403-410.
- Artimo P, Jonnalagedda M, Arnold K, Baratin D, Csardi G, De Castro E, Duvaud S, Flegel V, Fortier A, Gasteiger E, and others. 2012. ExPASy: SIB bioinformatics resource portal. Nucl. Aci. Res gks400.
- Asselbergh B, De Vleesschauwer D, Hofte M. 2008. Global switches and fine-tuning: ABA modulates plant pathogen defense. Mol Plant Micro Intera J 21:709–719.
- Audran C, Borel C, Frey A, Sotta B, Meyer C, Simonneau T, Marion-Poll A. 1998. Expression studies of the zeaxanthin epoxidase gene in *Nicotiana plumbaginifolia*. Plant Physiol 118(3): 1021-1028.
- Bartels D, Schneider K, Terstappen G, Piatkowski D, & Salamini F. 1990. Molecular cloning of abscisic acid-modulated genes which are induced during desiccation of the resurrection plant Crater. Planta 181(1): 27-34.
- Banzai T, Sumiya K, Hanagata N, Dubinsky Z, Karube I. 2002. Molecular cloning and characterization of genes encoding BURP domain-containing protein in the mangrove, *Bruguiera gymnorrhiza*. Trees 16(2-3): 87-93.

- Bombarely A, Menda N, Tecle IY, Buels RM, Strickler S, Fischer-York T, Pujar A, Leto J, Gosselin J, Mueller LA. (2011). The Sol Genomics Network (solgenomics. net): growing tomatoes using Perl. Nucl Aci Res 39: D1149-55.
- Brückner A, Polge C, Lentze N, Auerbach D, Schlattner U. 2009. Yeast two-hybrid, a powerful tool for systems biology. Inter J Mol Sci 10(6): 2763-2788.
- Callahan AM, Morgens PH, Cohen RA. 1993. Isolation and initial characterization of cDNAs for mRNAs regulated during peach fruit development. J Am Soc Hortic Sci 118: 531-537.
- Cameron DR. 1952. Inheritance in *Nicotiana tabacum*. XXIV. Intraspecific differences in chromosome structure. Genetics 37(3), 288.
- Cao FY, Yoshioka K, Desveaux D. 2011. The roles of ABA in plant–pathogen interactions. J Plant Res 124: 489–499.
- Chen Z, Zheng Z, Huang J, Lai Z, Fan, B. 2009. Biosynthesis of salicylic acid in plants. Plant Signal Behav 4(6): 493-496.
- Chen F, D'Auria JC, Tholl D, Ross JR, Gershenzon J, Noel JP, Pichersky E. 2003. An *Arabidopsis thaliana* gene for methylsalicylate biosynthesis, identified by a biochemical genomics approach, has a role in defense. Plant J 36: 577–588.
- Chen Z, Ricigliano JW, Klessig DF. 1993. Purification and characterization of a soluble salicylic acid-binding protein from tobacco. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 90(20): 9533-9537.

- Conrath U, Chen Z, Ricigliano JR, Klessig DF. 1995. Two inducers of plant defense responses, 2,6-dichloroisonicotinic acid and salicylic acid, inhibit catalase activity in tobacco. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 92: 7143–7147.
- Cornic G. 1994. Drought stress and high light effects on leaf photosynthesis. Photosynthesis 17: 297-313.
- Curtis MD and Grossniklaus U. 2003. A gateway cloning vector set for high-throughput functional analysis of genes in planta. Plant Physiol 133(2): 462-469.
- Delaney TP, Uknes S, Vernooij B, Friedrich L, Weymann K, Negrotto D, Gaffney T, Gut-Rella M, Kessmann H, Ward E, and others. 1994. A central role of salicylic acid in plant disease resistance. Science 266(5188): 1247-1250.
- Ding X, Hou X, Xie K, Xiong L. 2009. Genome-wide identification of BURP domain-containing genes in rice reveals a gene family with diverse structures and responses to abiotic stresses. Planta 230(1): 149-163.
- FAO, IFAD, WFP .2013. The State of Food Insecurity in the World 2013. The multiple dimensions of food security. Rome. FAO.
- Forouhar F, Yang Y, Kumar D, Chen Y, Fridman E, Park SW, Chiang Y, Acton TB,
 Montelione GT, Pichersky E, and others .2005. Structural and biochemical studies
 identify tobacco SABP2 as a methyl salicylate esterase and implicate it in plant innate
 immunity. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 102(5): 1773-1778.

- Gaffney T, Friedrich L, Vernooij B, Negrotto D, Nye G, Uknes S, Ward E, Uknes S, Kessmann H, Ryals J. 1993. Requirement of salicylic acid for the induction of systemic acquired resistance. Science. 261(5122): 754-756.
- Glazebrook, J. 1999. Genes controlling expression of defense responses in Arabidopsis. Curr Opin Plant Biol 2(4): 280-286.
- Görlach J, Volrath S, Knauf-Beiter G, Hengy G, Beckhove U, Kogel KH, Oostendorp M, Staub T, Ward E, Kessmann H, and others. 1996. Benzothiadiazole, a novel class of inducers of systemic acquired resistance, activates gene expression and disease resistance in wheat.
 Plant Cell 8(4): 629-643.
- Granger C, Coryell V, Khanna A, Keim P, Vodkin L, Shoemaker RC. 2002. Identification, structure, and differential expression of members of a BURP domain containing protein family in soybean. Genome 45(4): 693-701.
- Hara M, Furukawa J, Sato A, Mizoguchi T, Miura K. 2011. Abiotic stress and role of salicylic acid in plants. In Abiotic Stress Responses in Plants: Metabolism, Productivity and Sustainability (Ahmad, P. and Prasad, M.N.V., eds). New York: Springer, pp. 235–251.
- Hattori J, Boutilier K, Van Lookeren Campagne MM, Miki BL. 1998. A conserved BURP domain defines a novel group of plant proteins with unusual primary structures. Mol Gen Genom 259(4): 424-428.
- Hiller K, Grote A, Scheer M, Münch R, Jahn D. 2004. PrediSi: prediction of signal peptides and their cleavage positions. Nucl Aci Res 32(suppl 2): W375-W379.
- Ian BM. 2005. Extraction of RNA from cells and tissue. In Hypertension (pp. 139-148). Humana Press.
- Ingram J and Bartels D. 1996. The molecular basis of dehydration tolerance in plants. Ann Rev Plant Bio 47(1): 377-403.
- Imbeaud S, Graudens E, Boulanger V, Barlet X, Zaborski P, Eveno E, Mueller O, Schroeder A, Auffray C. 2005. Towards standardization of RNA quality assessment using userindependent classifiers of microcapillary electrophoresis traces. Nuc Aci Res 33(6): 56-56.
- Iwasaki T, Yamaguchi-Shinozaki K, Shinozaki K. 1995. Identification of a cis-regulatory region of a gene in *Arabidopsis thaliana* whose induction by dehydration is mediated by abscisic acid and requires protein synthesis. Mol Gene Genom 247: 391-398.
- Koiwai H, Nakaminami K, Seo M, Mitsuhashi W, Toyomasu T, Koshiba T. 2004. Tissuespecific localization of an abscisic acid biosynthetic enzyme AAO3, in Arabidopsis. Plant Physiol 134: 1697-1707
- Kumar D and Klessig DF. 2003. High-affinity salicylic acid-binding protein 2 is required for plant innate immunity and has salicylic acid-stimulated lipase activity. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 100(26): 16101-16106.
- Kumar D and Klessig DF. 2008. The search for the salicylic acid receptor led to discovery of the SAR signal receptor. Plant Signal Behav 3(9): 691-692.

- Larkin MA, Blackshields G, Brown NP, Chenna R, McGettigan PA, McWilliam H, Valentin F,Wallace IM, Wilm A, Lopez R and others. 2007. ClustalW and ClustalX version 2.Bioinformatics 23(21): 2947-2948.
- Laemmli UK. 1970. Cleavage of structural proteins during the assembly of the head of bacteriophage T4. Nature 227(5259): 680-685.
- Li CH, Zhu YQ, Meng YL, Wang JW, Xu KX, Zhang TZ, Chen XY. 2002. Isolation of genes preferentially expressed in cotton fibers by cDNA filter arrays and RT-PCR. Plant Sci 163: 1113–1120
- Marchler-Bauer A, Lu S, Anderson JB, Chitsaz F, Derbyshire MK, DeWeese-Scott C, Fong JH, Geer LY, Geer RC, Gonzales NR, Gwadz M, and others. 2011. CDD: a Conserved
 Domain Database for the functional annotation of proteins. Nucl. Aci. Res 39(suppl.1): D225-D229.
- Métraux JP, Ahl-Goy P, Staub T, Speich J, Steinemann A, Ryals J, Ward E. 1991. Induced systemic resistance in cucumber in response to 2, 6-dichloro-isonicotinic acid and pathogens. Mol Gen Plant Micro Intera Vol. 1 (pp. 432-439). Springer Netherlands.
- Miura K, and Tada Y. 2014. Regulation of water, salinity, and cold stress responses by salicylic acid. Front. Plant Sci 5:4. doi: 10.3389/fpls.2014.00004
- Moeder W and Yoshioka K. 2009. Environmental sensitivity in pathogen resistant *Arabidopsis* mutants. In Signal Crosstalk in Plant Stress Responses Yoshioka K., Shinozaki K, eds (Ames, IA:Wiley-Blackwell), pp. 113–135.

- Neill SJ, McGaw BA, Horgan R. 1986. Ethylene and 1-aminocyclopropane-1-carboxylic acid production in flacca, a wilty mutant of tomato, subjected to water deficiency and pretreatment with abscisic acid. J. Exp. Bot 37(4): 535-541.
- Peleg Z and Blumwald E. 2011. Hormone balance and abiotic stress tolerance in crop plants. Curr. Opin. Plant Bio 14: 290–295.
- Peng W, Rui-Rui S, Ji-Yang Z, Shuang-Huai C, Guo-Ping Z. 2011. Molecular cloning and phylogenetic analysis of a novel BURP domain-containing gene from Camellia sinensis. Afr. J. Biotechnol. 10(69): 15470-15476.
- Rabbani MA, Maruyama K, Abe H, Khan MA, Katsura K, Ito Y, Yoshiwara K, Seki M, Shinozaki K, Yamaguchi-Shinozaki K. 2003. Monitoring expression profiles of rice genes under cold, drought, and high-salinity stresses and abscisic acid application using cDNA microarray and RNA gel-blot analyses. Plant Physiol 133:1755–1767.
- Rairdan G J and Delaney TP. 2002. Role of salicylic acid and NIM1/NPR1 in race-specific resistance in *Arabidopsis*. Genetics 161(2): 803-811.
- Rivas-San Vicente M and Plasencia J. 2011. Salicylic acid beyond defence: its role in plant growth and development. J. Exp. Bot 62(10): 3321-3338.
- Rock CD and Zeevaart JA. 1991. The aba mutant of *Arabidopsis thaliana* is impaired in epoxycarotenoid biosynthesis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 88(17): 7496-7499.

- Seki M, Narusaka M, Ishida J, Nanjo T, Fujita M, Oono Y, Kamiya A, Nakajima M, Enju A, Sakurai T, and others. 2002. Monitoring the expression profiles of ca 7000 *Arabidopsis* genes under drought, cold and high-salinity stresses using a full-length cDNA microarray. Plant J 31: 279–292.
- Seo PJ, Xiang F, Qiao M, Park JY, Lee YN, Kim SG, Lee YH, Park WJ, Park CM. 2009. The MYB96 transcription factor mediates abscisic acid signaling during drought stress response in Arabidopsis. Plant Physiol 151(1): 275-289.
- Seo PJ and Par CM. 2010. MYB96-mediated abscisic acid signals induce pathogen resistance response by promoting salicylic acid biosynthesis in Arabidopsis. New Phytolo 186(2): 471-483.
- Shinozaki K and Yamaguchi-Shinozaki K. 2000. Molecular responses to dehydration and low temperature: differences and cross-talk between two stress signaling pathways. Curr Opin Plant Biol 3(3): 217-223.
- Slaymaker DH, Navarre DA, Clark D, del Pozo O, Martin GB,Klessig DF. 2002. The tobacco salicylic acid-binding protein 3 (SABP3) is the chloroplast carbonic anhydrase, which exhibits antioxidant activity and plays a role in the hypersensitive defense response. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 99(18): 11640-11645.
- Sticher L, Mauch-Mani B, Métraux AJ. 1997. Systemic acquired resistance. Annu Rev Phytopathol 35(1: 235-270.
- Swamy PM and Smith B. 1999. Role of abscisic acid in plant stress tolerance. Curr Sci 76: 1220-1227.

- Thomashow MF. 1999. Plant cold acclimation: freezing tolerance genes and regulatory mechanisms. Annu Rev of Plant Bio 50(1): 571-599.
- Tiryaki I and Tunaz H. 2004. Systemic acquired resistance: Characterization of genes associated with plant defence response. J Cell Mol Bio 3(1).
- Tripathi D, Jiang YL, Kumar D. 2010. SABP2, a methyl salicylate esterase is required for the systemic acquired resistance induced by acibenzolar-S- methyl in plants. FEBS Letters 584, 3458-3463.
- Uknes S, Mauch-Mani B, Mover M, Potter S, Williams S, Dincher S, Chandler D, Slusarenko A, Ward E, Ryals J. 1992. Acqu resist *Arabidopsis*. Plant Cell 4: 645-656.
- Vlot AC, Dempsey DA, Klessig DF. 2009. Salicylic acid, a multifaceted hormone to combat disease. Annu Rev Phytopathol 47:177-206.
- Wang YQ, Feechan A, Yun BW, Shafiei R, Hofmann A, Taylor P, Xue P, Yang FQ, Xie ZS, Pallas JA, Chu CC, and others. 2009. S-nitrosylation of AtSABP3 antagonizes the expression of plant immunity. J Bio Chem 284(4): 2131-2137.
- White RF. 1979. Acetylsalicylic acid (aspirin) induces resistance to tobacco mosaic virus in tobacco. Virology 99(2), 410-412.
- Wildermuth MC, Dewdney J, Wu G, Ausubel FM. 2001. Isochorismate synthase is required to synthesize salicylic acid for plant defence. Nature 414(6863): 562-565.
- Wilkinson S and Davies WJ. 2010. Drought, ozone, ABA and ethylene: new insights from cell to plant to community. Plant Cell Envirom 33: 510–525.

- Xiong L, Ishitani M, Lee H, Zhu JK. 2001. The Arabidopsis LOS5/ABA3 locus encodes a molybdenum cofactor sulfurase and modulates cold stress–and osmotic stress–responsive gene expression. Plant Cell 13(9): 2063-2083.
- Xiong L, Lee H, Ishitani M, Zhu JK. 2002. Regulation of osmotic stress-responsive gene expression by the LOS6/ABA1 locus in Arabidopsis. J Bio Chem. 277: 8588–8569.
- Xu H, Li Y, Yan Y, Wang K, Gao Y, Hu, Y. 2010. Genome-scale identification of Soybean
 BURP domain-containing genes and their expression under stress treatments. BMC Plant
 Bio 10: 197. doi: 10.1186/1471-2229-10-197.
- Yasuda M, Ishikawa A, Jikumaru Y, Seki M, Umezawa T, Asami T, Maruyama-Nakashita A, Kudo T, Shinozaki K, Yoshida S, Nakashita H. 2008. Antagonistic Interaction between Systemic Acquired Resistance and the Abscisic Acid–Mediated Abiotic Stress Response in Arabidopsis. Plant Cell 20(6):1678-1692.
- Yamaguchi-Shinozaki K, and Shinozaki K. 1993. The plant hormone abscisic acid mediates the drought-induced expression but not the seed-specific expression of rd22, a gene responsive to dehydration stress in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. Mol Gen Gene MGG 238(1-2): 17-25.
- Yamaguchi-Shinozaki K, Shinozaki K. 2006. Transcriptional regulatory networks in cellular responses and tolerance to dehydration and cold stresses. Annu Rev Plant Bio 57: 781– 803
- Zhang J, Schurr U, Davies WJ. 1987. Control of stomatal behaviour by abscisic acid which apparently originates in the roots. J Exp Bot 38(7): 1174-1181.

Zhang J, Jia W, Yang J, Ismail AM. 2006. Role of ABA in integrating plant responses to drought and salt stresses. Field Crops Res 97(1): 111-119.

APPENDICES

Appendix A – Abbreviations

1-2 - SABP2 Silenced Plants

Avr - Avirulence

ABA- Abscisic acid

BA2H - Benzoic-2-hydroxylase

 βME - βeta mercaptoethanol

cDNA-Complementary DNA

DNA-Deoxyribonucleic acid

dNTP-deoxyribonucleoside triphosphate

E. coli-Escherichia coli

EFalpha1 - Elongation Factor alpha 1

ET – Ethylene

EtBr-Etidium bromide

HR - Hypersensitive response

ICS - Isochorismate synthase

IPTG-Isopropylthiogalactosidase

JA - Jasmonic acid

Kb-kilo base

kDa - Kilo Dalton

LB-Luria-Bertani broth

MeSA - Methyl salicylate

min-minutes(s)

ml - milli litre

mM - milli Molar

mRNA-messenger RNA

NahG Plants expressing salicylate hydroxylase which converts SA to catechol

NCED-9-cis epoxycarotenoid dioxygenase

nm-nano meter.

OD - Optical Density

PR - Pathogenesis Resistance genes

R-genes - Resistance genes

PCR-Polymerase Chain Reaction

RNA-Ribonucleic acid

SA - Salicylic acid

SABP2 - Salicylic acid binding protein 2

SAR - Systemic acquired resistance

SAMT - Salicylic acid methyl transferase

SBIP-355 - SABP2 Interacting Protein-355

SDS PAGE - Sodium dodecyl sulphate-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis

TAE - Tris-Acetate EDTA

TMV - Tobacco mosaic virus

UV - Ultra violet

µg - micro gram

µl - micro litre

XNN- Nicotiana tabacum cv. Xanthi nc (Wild-type tobacco plants)

ZEP-Zeaxanthin epoxidase

Appendix B – Buffers and Reagents

0.1% Diethyl Pyrocarbonate Treated Water (DEPC)

Diethyl pyrocarbonate = 0.1 ml

Distilled water = 100 ml

It was incubated for overnight at 37°C and the following day, it was autoclaved for 15 minutes.

1.2% Agarose gel

0.60 g agarose

50 ml distilled water

2.5µl ethidium bromide (10 mg/ml)

To prepare 0.8% Agarose gel: 0.40 g agarose was added.

50X Tris Acetate EDTA (TAE) Electrophoresis Buffer:

242.0 g Tris base

57.1 ml Glacial acetic acid (M.W.: 60.05).

100 ml 0.5 M EDTA (pH 8.0 at 25°C)

Distilled water was added to bring the volume to 1L

To prepare 1L 1X TAE Buffer: 980 ml distilled water was added to 20 ml 50X TAE Buffer.

4X SDS-PAGE Separating Gel buffer (500mL)

Tris base (90.85g), M.W. = 121.1g/mol, final concentration = 1.5M

Adjust pH to 8.8 by adding NaOH

Add SDS (0.2g), final concentration = 0.04%

4x SDS-PAGE Stacking gel buffer (500mL)

Tris base (30.28), M.W. = 121.1g/mol, final concentration = 0.5M

Adjust pH to 6.8 by adding NaOH

Add SDS (0.2g), final concentration = 0.04%

10x SDS-PAGE Running Buffer (1 L)

Tris base (30g), M.W. = 121.1g/mol

Glycine (144g), M.W. 75.07g/mol

SDS (10g)

2x SDS-PAGE Loading Dye (100mL)

1M Tris-Cl, pH 6.8 (10mL), final concentration = 100mM

SDS (0.4g), final concentration = 0.4%

Glycerol (20mL), final concentration, 20%

Bromophenol blue (0.2g), final concentration = 0.2%,

5mL of β -mercaptoethanol (β ME) was added prior to use.

10x Phosphate Buffer Saline (10x PBS)

Sodium Chloride (76g), M.W. = 58.44g/mol, final conc. = 1.3M

Sodium Phosphate dibasic (10g), M.W. = 141.96g/mol, final conc. = 70mM

Sodium Phosphate monobasic (4.1g), M.W. = 119.96g/mol, final conc. =

30mM

For 1x PBS (1 L), 100mL of 10x PBS was diluted in 900mL of water.

For 1x PBS (1 L) with 3% Tween 20, dilute 100mL of 10x PBS in 870mL, then add 30mL of tween 20.

Western Blotting Blocking Buffer (100mL)

1x PBS buffer, 100mL

Dry Milk (1g), final conc. = 1.0%

BSA (3g), final conc. = 3.0%

10x Western Blotting Transfer Buffer (1L)

Tris base (30.3g), M.W. = 121.1g/mol, final conc. = 125mM

Glycine (72.06g), M.W. = 75.07g/mol, final conc. = 960mM

For western, 1x transfer buffer is prepared by mixing 100ml of 10x transfer buffer, 100ml of 100% methanol, and 800mL of cold water.

Coomassie Blue staining solution

1 g of Coomassie Blue

400 ml H2O

500 ml methanol

100 ml acetic acid

Destaining solution for coomassie blue

500 ml distilled H2O

400 ml methanol

100 ml acetic acid

Ponceau S Stain (100mL)

Ponceau S (0.1g), final conc. = 0.1%

Acetic acid = 5 ml, final conc. = 5.0%

VITA

HANADI ABDULAALI ALMAZROUE

Education:	Master of Science in Biology, 2014
	East Tennessee State University, Johnson City, TN
	Bachelor of Science in Biochemistry, 2010
	King Abdulaziz University, Jeddah, Kingdom of Saudi Arabia
Professional Experience:	Medical Lab Assistant, King Fahad General Hospital
	Jeddah, Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, 2009
Presentations:	'Role of RD22 Like Protein (SBIP-355) in Salicylic Acid
	Mediated Pathway in Plants' Seminar presented at Department of
	Biological Sciences, East Tennessee State University, Johnson
	City, TN, 2013
	'Role of RD22 Like Protein (SBIP-355) in Salicylic Acid
	Mediated Pathway in Plants' Poster presented at the "2013
	Appalachian Student Research Forum", Johnson City, TN

'Role of *RD22* Like Protein (SBIP-355) in Salicylic Acid Mediated Pathway in Tobacco' Poster presented at the "2014 Appalachian Student Research Forum", Johnson City, TN